Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ Form 10-Q November 06, 2009 Table of Contents

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

**WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549** 

# **FORM 10-Q**

X QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 or 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2009

OR

" TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 or 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from \_\_\_\_\_ to \_\_\_\_\_

Commission file number 1-10890

# HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

 $(Exact\ name\ of\ registrant\ as\ specified\ in\ its\ charter)$ 

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of

37-0911756 (I.R.S. Employer

incorporation or organization)

Identification No.)

1 Horace Mann Plaza, Springfield, Illinois 62715-0001

(Address of principal executive offices, including Zip Code)

Registrant s Telephone Number, Including Area Code: 217-789-2500

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes "No"

Indicate by check mark the registrant s filer status, as such terms are defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act.

Large accelerated filer x Accelerated filer "

Non-accelerated filer "

Smaller reporting company "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act. Yes " No x

As of October 31, 2009, 39,184,363 shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share, were outstanding, net of 21,813,196 shares of treasury stock.

**Table of Contents** 

# HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

# FORM 10-Q

# FOR THE QUARTER ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2009

# **INDEX**

PART I - FINAN	ICIAL INFORMATION	<u>Page</u>
Item 1.	Financial Statements	
	Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	1
	Consolidated Balance Sheets	3
	Consolidated Statements of Operations	4
	Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)	5
	Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders Equity	6
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	7
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  Note 1 - Basis of Presentation  Note 2 - Investments  Note 3 - Fair Value Measurements  Note 4 - Debt  Note 5 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits  Note 6 - Reinsurance  Note 7 - Segment Information  Note 8 - Contingencies	8 13 21 26 27 29 30 31
Item 2.	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	32
Item 3.	<u>Ouantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk</u>	69
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	69
PART II - OTHE	ER INFORMATION	
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	69
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	69
Item 5.	Other Information	70
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	70
SIGNATURES		76

3

# REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

Horace Mann Educators Corporation:

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Horace Mann Educators Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of September 30, 2009, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of changes in shareholders—equity and cash flows for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management.

We conducted our reviews in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the consolidated financial statements referred to above for them to be in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2008, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders—equity, and cash flows for the year then ended (not presented herein); and in our report dated March 2, 2009, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2008, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it was derived.

As discussed in Note 1 to the September 30, 2009 consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its presentation and method of accounting for other-than-temporary impairments of debt securities, effective April 1, 2009.

1

As discussed in Note 1 to the December 31, 2008 consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for deferred acquisition costs associated with internal replacements, effective January 1, 2007. As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, effective January 1, 2007. As discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for defined pension and other postretirement plans, effective December 31, 2006.

/s/ KPMG LLP

KPMG LLP

Chicago, Illinois

November 6, 2009

2

# HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

# CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

# (Dollars in thousands)

	September 30, 2009 (Unaudited)		De	cember 31, 2008
ASSETS				
Investments				
Fixed maturities, available for sale, at fair value (amortized cost 2009, \$3,925,240; 2008, \$3,787,857)	\$	4,013,492	\$	3,485,261
Equity securities, available for sale, at fair value (cost 2009, \$64,775; 2008, \$86,184)		60,585		61,569
Short-term and other investments		516,752		354,925
		010,702		00 1,5 20
Total investments		4,590,829		3,901,755
Cash		16,770		9,204
Accrued investment income and premiums receivable		118,991		103,534
Deferred policy acquisition costs		268,535		312,046
Goodwill		47,396		47,396
Other assets		95,852		168,566
Separate Account (variable annuity) assets		1,153,726		965,217
Total assets	\$	6,292,099	\$	5,507,718
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS	EQU	ITY		
Policy liabilities				
Fixed annuity contract liabilities	\$	2,324,643	\$	2,166,518
Interest-sensitive life contract liabilities		701,457		685,854
Unpaid claims and claim expenses		316,384		311,243
Future policy benefits		196,729		193,000
Unearned premiums		214,363		206,578
Total policy liabilities		3,753,576		3,563,193
Other policyholder funds		121,137		128,359
Other liabilities		297,502		164,555
Short-term debt		38,000		38,000
Long-term debt		199,598		199,549
Separate Account (variable annuity) liabilities		1,153,726		965,217
Total liabilities		5,563,539		5,058,873

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Preferred stock, \$0.001 par value, authorized 1,000,000 shares; none issued

Common stock, \$0.001 par value, authorized 75,000,000 shares;		
issued, 2009, 60,997,559; 2008, 60,874,984	61	61
Additional paid-in capital	357,783	355,542
Retained earnings	739,422	694,492
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) net of taxes:		
Net unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturities and equity		
securities	50,479	(182,065)
Net funded status of pension and other postretirement benefit		
obligations	(11,522)	(11,522)
Treasury stock, at cost, 21,813,196 shares	(407,663)	(407,663)
Total shareholders equity	728,560	448,845
Total liabilities and shareholders equity	\$ 6,292,099	\$ 5,507,718

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

See accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

3

# HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

		nths Ended aber 30, 2008	Nine Mon Septem 2009	
Revenues				
Insurance premiums and contract charges earned	\$ 165,845	\$ 163,470	\$491,850	\$489,722
Net investment income	62,458	57,806	181,399	172,231
Net realized investment gains (losses)	11,410	(45,270)	21,658	(55,742)
Other income	1,817	2,198	6,634	7,506
Total revenues	241,530	178,204	701,541	613,717
Benefits, losses and expenses				
Benefits, claims and settlement expenses	122,607	131,214	348,588	360,238
Interest credited	35,326	33,243	103,539	97,898
Policy acquisition expenses amortized	18,164	16,198	60,222	55,973
Operating expenses	34,740	30,665	105,569	98,793
Amortization of intangible assets	-	1,242	223	4,060
Interest expense	3,479	3,402	10,465	10,179
Total benefits, losses and expenses	214,316	215,964	628,606	627,141
Income (loss) before income taxes	27,214	(37,760)	72,935	(13,424)
Income tax expense (benefit)	7,933	(6,952)	21,619	(1,414)
	,	( ) ,	,	( ) ,
Net income (loss)	\$ 19,281	\$ (30,808)	\$ 51,316	\$ (12,010)
Net income (loss) per share				,
Basic	\$ 0.49	\$ (0.79)	\$ 1.31	\$ (0.30)
Diluted	\$ 0.48	\$ (0.79)	\$ 1.27	\$ (0.30)
Weighted average number of shares and equivalent shares (in thousands)				
Basic	39,180	39,062	39,172	40,074
Diluted	40,640	39,062	40,554	40,074

Net realized investment gains (losses)

Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Total other-than-temporary impairment losses on securities	(1,808)	(47,592)	(29,076)	(65,704)
Portion of losses recognized in other comprehensive income	-	-	1,430	-
Net other-than-temporary impairment losses on securities				
recognized in earnings	(1,808)	(47,592)	(27,646)	(65,704)
Realized gains	13,218	2,322	49,304	9,962
Total	\$ 11,410	\$ (45,270)	\$ 21,658	\$ (55,742)
Total	Ψ 11,410	$\Psi \left( \pm 2,270\right)$	Ψ 21,036	$\Psi (33, 142)$

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

See accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

# HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

# COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)

(Dollars in thousands)

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2009 2008			oths Ended other 30, 2008
	2007	2000	2007	2000
Comprehensive income (loss)				
Net income (loss)	\$ 19,281	\$ (30,808)	\$ 51,316	\$ (12,010)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:				
Change in net unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturities				
and equity securities	149,184	(94,593)	232,544	(153,596)
Change in net funded status of pension and other				
postretirement benefit obligations	-	-	-	-
Other comprehensive income (loss)	149,184	(94,593)	232,544	(153,596)
Total	\$ 168,465	\$ (125,401)	\$ 283,860	\$ (165,606)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

See accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

5

# HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2009 2008		er 30,
Common stock			
Beginning balance	\$	61	\$ 61
Conversion of Director Stock Plan units, 2009, 84,562 shares; 2008, 16,355 shares		-	-
Conversion of restricted stock units, 2009, 38,013 shares; 2008, 3,174 shares		-	-
Ending balance		61	61
Additional paid-in capital			
Beginning balance	355,5	542	353,841
Conversion of Director Stock Plan units and restricted stock units	1,3		369
Share-based compensation expense		880	999
Ending balance	357,7	'83	355,209
Retained earnings			
Beginning balance	694,4	92	698,539
Cumulative effect of adoption of accounting principle, net of taxes		-	-
Net income (loss)	51,3	16	(12,010)
Cash dividends, 2009, \$0.1575 per share; 2008, \$0.3150 per share	(6,3)	86)	(12,872)
Ending balance	739,4	-22	673,657
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes			
Beginning balance	(193,5	(87)	(5,838)
Cumulative effect of adoption of accounting principle, net of taxes		_	_
Change in net unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturities and equity securities	232,5	i44	(153,596)
Change in net funded status of pension and other postretirement benefit obligations		-	-
Ending balance	38,9	157	(159,434)
Treasury stock, at cost			
Beginning balance, 2009, 21,813,196 shares; 2008, 18,614,971 shares	(407,6	63)	(353,325)
Purchase of 0 shares in 2009; 3,198,225 shares in 2008		-	(54,338)

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Ending balance, 2009 and 2008, 21,813,196 shares (407,663)

(407,663)

Shareholders equity at end of period

\$ 728,560

\$ 461,830

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

See accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

6

# HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

# (Dollars in thousands)

	Nine Months Ended September 30,		ber 30,
		2009	2008
Cash flows - operating activities	ф	107.205	d 400 202
Premiums collected	\$	497,305	\$ 498,283
Policyholder benefits paid		(361,696)	(357,966)
Policy acquisition and other operating expenses paid		(161,207)	(164,820)
Federal income taxes paid		(1,292)	(5,909)
Investment income collected		170,658	168,591
Interest expense paid		(7,357)	(6,668)
Contribution to defined benefit pension plan trust		(2,700)	-
Other  Not each provided by encreting activities		591	2,087
Net cash provided by operating activities		134,302	133,598
Cash flows - investing activities			
Fixed maturities		(1.654.405)	(7.62, 400)
Purchases	(	(1,654,405)	(762,498)
Sales		1,337,950	484,737
Maturities, paydowns, calls and redemptions		263,236	288,346
Net cash used in short-term and other investments		(153,118)	(136,571)
Net cash used in investing activities		(206,337)	(125,986)
Cash flows - financing activities			
Dividends paid to shareholders		(6,386)	(12,872)
Purchase of treasury stock		-	(54,338)
Annuity contracts, variable and fixed			
Deposits		268,071	237,768
Benefits and withdrawals		(124,293)	(125,104)
Net transfer to Separate Account (variable annuity) assets		(56,421)	(51,861)
Life policy accounts			
Deposits		1,153	1,395
Withdrawals and surrenders		(4,000)	(4,228)
Change in bank overdrafts		1,477	3,808
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities		79,601	(5,432)

Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Net increase in cash	7,566	2,180
Cash at beginning of period	9,204	13,209
Cash at end of period	\$ 16,770	\$ 15,389

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

See accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

# HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

September 30, 2009 and 2008

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

#### Note 1 - Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Horace Mann Educators Corporation (HMEC; and together with its subsidiaries, the Company or Horace Mann) have been prepared in accordance with United States (U.S.) generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), specifically Regulation S-X and the instructions to Form 10-Q. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted. The Company believes that these consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) which are, in the opinion of management, necessary to present fairly the Company s consolidated financial position as of September 30, 2009, the consolidated results of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, and the consolidated changes in shareholders—equity and cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008. The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect (1) the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and (2) the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The subsidiaries of HMEC market and underwrite tax-qualified retirement annuities and private passenger automobile, homeowners, and life insurance products, primarily to K-12 teachers, administrators and other employees of public schools and their families. The Company s principal operating subsidiaries are Horace Mann Life Insurance Company, Horace Mann Insurance Company, Teachers Insurance Company, Horace Mann Property & Casualty Insurance Company and Horace Mann Lloyds.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the date these consolidated financial statements were issued, which was November 6, 2009. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes to consolidated financial statements included in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

The results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

8

# **Note 1 - Basis of Presentation-(Continued)**

Adopted Accounting Standards

FASB Accounting Standards Codification<sup>TM</sup>

Effective July 1, 2009, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2009-01, Topic 105 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles amendments based on Statemen of Financial Accounting Standards No. 168 The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. The ASU established FASB Accounting Standards Codification (Codification or ASC) as the source of authoritative U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities. All guidance contained in the Codification carries an equal level of authority. Rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under authority of federal securities laws are also sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. The adoption of this ASU did not have an effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

#### Subsequent Events

Effective June 30, 2009, the Company adopted guidance related to subsequent events as required by FASB ASC Subtopic 855-10, which established general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. FASB ASC Subtopic 855-10 provides guidance on the period after the balance sheet date during which management of a reporting entity should evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential recognition or disclosure in the financial statements, the circumstances under which an entity should recognize events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial statements and the disclosures that an entity should make about events or transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date. The adoption of this guidance did not have an effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

## Fair Value Measurements

Effective April 1, 2009, the Company prospectively adopted guidance for estimating fair value when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability have significantly decreased and also for identifying circumstances that indicate a transaction is not orderly as required by FASB ASC paragraph 820-10-65-4. Under this guidance, if there has been a significant decrease in the volume and level of activity for the asset or the liability in relation to the normal market activity for the asset or liability (or similar assets or liabilities), then transactions or quoted prices may not accurately reflect fair value. In addition, if there is evidence that the transaction for the asset or liability is not orderly, little weight, if any, should be placed on that transaction price as an indicator of fair value. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

9

# **Note 1 - Basis of Presentation-(Continued)**

Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments

Effective April 1, 2009, the Company prospectively adopted guidance related to the recognition and presentation of other-than-temporary impairments as required by FASB ASC paragraph 320-10-65-1. This guidance amends the accounting and reporting for other-than-temporary impairment of debt securities. ASC paragraph 320-10-65-1 requires an other-than-temporary impairment of a debt security be separated into two components when there are credit related losses associated with the impaired debt security for which management asserts that it does not have the intent to sell the security, and it is more likely than not that it will not be required to sell the security before recovery of its cost basis. The amount of the total other-than-temporary impairment related to non-credit factors is recognized in other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes, while the credit related portion is recognized in net income. Other-than-temporary impairments prior to April 1, 2009 were the result of the Company s intent to sell securities prior to the recovery of fair value or the result of credit losses. Accordingly, the Company s adoption of this guidance did not require a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings or accumulated other comprehensive income in the period of adoption. See Note 2 Investments for additional disclosures required by this guidance.

Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Effective April 1, 2009, the Company expanded the disclosures about the fair value of financial instruments whenever summarized financial information for interim reporting periods are issued, as required by FASB ASC paragraph 825-10-65-1. See Note 3 Fair Value Measurements for additional disclosures required by this guidance.

## Financial Guarantee Insurance Contracts

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted guidance as required by FASB ASC paragraph 944-20-65-1. This guidance applies to financial guarantee insurance and reinsurance contracts, including the recognition and measurement of premium revenue and claim liabilities. The adoption of this guidance did not have an effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

# Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted guidance related to the accounting and reporting of convertible debt required by FASB ASC Subtopic 470-20. This guidance requires issuers of convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion to separately account for the liability and equity components in a manner that will reflect the entity s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest cost is recognized in subsequent periods. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

# **Note 1 - Basis of Presentation-(Continued)**

# Useful Life of Intangible Assets

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted guidance as required by FASB ASC paragraph 350-30-50-2, which requires companies estimating the useful life of a recognized intangible asset to consider their historical experience in renewing or extending similar arrangements or, in the absence of historical experience, to consider assumptions that market participants would use about renewal or extension. The adoption of this guidance did not have an effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

Transfers of Financial Assets and Repurchase Financing Transactions

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted guidance as required by FASB ASC paragraph 860-10-65-1. This guidance presumes that an initial transfer of a financial asset and a repurchase financing are considered part of the same arrangement unless four conditions are all met. Transactions that meet all four criteria are accounted for separately from repurchase financings. The adoption of this guidance did not have an effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

# Recent Accounting Changes

Investment in Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value Per Share

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-12, Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share . ASU No. 2009-12 provides guidance on using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) to estimate the fair value of an alternative investment that does not have a readily determinable fair value. The guidance should be applied on an investment-by-investment basis and applied consistently to the entire position in the investment. The amendments of this ASU are effective for interim and annual periods ending after December 15, 2009, with early application permitted. Management believes the adoption of this ASU will not have a material effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

#### Fair Value Measurement of Liabilities

In August 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-05, Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value , which provides clarification that in circumstances where a quoted market price in an active market for an identical liability is not available, a reporting entity must measure fair value of the liability using one of the following techniques: (1) the quoted price of the identical liability when traded as an asset; (2) quoted prices for similar liabilities or similar liabilities when traded as assets; or (3) another valuation technique, such as a present value technique or the amount that the reporting entity would pay to transfer the identical liability or would receive to enter into the identical liability that is consistent with existing fair value measurement and disclosure provisions. The amendments of this ASU are effective for the first reporting period beginning after issuance; for the Company the effective date was October 1, 2009. Management believes the adoption of this ASU will have no effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

# Note 1 - Basis of Presentation-(Continued)

Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefit Plan Disclosures

In December 2008, the FASB amended its guidance related to postretirement benefit plan assets included in FASB ASC paragraph 715-20-65-2. For fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009, the guidance requires employers to disclose additional information about investment allocation decisions, major categories of plan assets and fair value techniques and inputs used to measure plan assets. Because the requirements of this guidance relate only to financial statement disclosures, its adoption will have no effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

# **Note 2 - Investments**

# Fixed Maturity Securities and Equity Securities

The following table presents the composition and value of the Company s fixed maturity securities and equity securities portfolios by rating category. At September 30, 2009, 94.4% of these securities were investment grade, with an overall average quality rating of A+. The Company has classified the entire fixed maturity securities and equity securities portfolios as available for sale, which are carried at fair value.

Percent of Total					
	Fair Value September 3				
	September 30,	December 31,	Fair	Amortized	
Rating (1)	2009	2008	Value (2)	Cost or Cost	
Fixed maturity securities					
AAA	32.7%	43.5%	\$1,313,572	\$ 1,265,117	
AA	14.8	9.4	593,170	574,155	
A	25.8	24.1	1,034,594	1,003,337	
BBB	21.2	19.1	853,199	834,102	
BB	3.3	2.3	130,821	152,354	
В	1.9	1.5	75,791	83,318	
CCC or lower	0.3	0.1	12,179	12,739	
Not rated (3)	-	-	166	118	
Total	100.0%	100.0%	\$4,013,492	\$ 3,925,240	
Equity securities					
AAA	9.9%	9.8%	\$ 6,014	\$ 6,000	
AA	-	1.0	· -	<u>-</u>	
A	28.9	54.5	17,493	20,064	
BBB	43.2	27.9	26,160	29,853	
BB	4.0	2.9	2,388	2,813	
В	11.1	-	6,754	4,945	
CCC or lower	0.7	0.2	414	233	
Not rated (4)	2.2	3.7	1,362	867	
Total	100.0%	100.0%	\$ 60,585	\$ 64,775	

(2)

<sup>(1)</sup> Ratings are as assigned primarily by Standard & Poor s Corporation (S&P) when available, with remaining ratings as assigned on an equivalent basis by Moody s Investors Service, Inc. (Moody s). Ratings for publicly traded securities are determined when the securities are acquired and are updated monthly to reflect any changes in ratings.

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Fair values are based on quoted market prices, when available. Fair values for private placements and certain other securities that are infrequently traded are estimated by the Company with the assistance of its investment advisors utilizing recognized valuation methodologies, including cash flow modeling. See also Note 3 Fair Value Measurements.

- (3) This category includes \$81 (fair value) of private placement securities not rated by either S&P or Moody s. The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) has rated 62.4% of these private placement securities as investment grade. The remaining \$85 (fair value) of securities in this category were (1) securities obtained in partial settlement of a default that occurred in 2002 and (2) a small municipal bond issue and these securities are not rated by S&P, Moody s or the NAIC.
- (4) This category represents common stocks that are not rated by either S&P or Moody s.

13

# **Note 2 - Investments-(Continued)**

The following table presents the distribution of the Company s fixed maturity securities portfolio by estimated expected maturity. Estimated expected maturities differ from contractual maturities, reflecting assumptions regarding borrowers utilization of the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. For structured securities, including mortgage-backed securities and other asset-backed securities, estimated expected maturities consider broker dealer survey prepayment assumptions and are verified for consistency with the interest rate and economic environments.

	Percent of Tota	Septemb	er 30, 2009	
	September 30, 2009	December 31, 2008	Fair Value	Amortized Cost
Due in 1 year or less	4.5%	7.1%	\$ 180,124	\$ 176,163
Due after 1 year through 5 years	20.9	30.0	840,200	821,725
Due after 5 years through 10 years	31.9	30.7	1,275,775	1,247,722
Due after 10 years through 20 years	14.8	10.6	595,907	582,804
Due after 20 years	27.9	21.6	1,121,486	1,096,826
Total	100.0%	100.0%	\$ 4,013,492	\$ 3,925,240

The average option adjusted duration for the Company s fixed maturity securities was 6.7 years at September 30, 2009 and 5.9 years at December 31, 2008. The increase in duration was primarily driven by a reduction in mortgage-backed securities, which have a shorter duration, as the Company completed an opportunistic capital gains program during the first nine months of 2009.

Proceeds from sales of fixed maturities, determined using the specific identification method, and gross gains and gross losses realized as a result of those sales for each period were:

	Period	Periods Ended		
	Septembe	er 30, 2009		
	Three	Nine		
	Months	Months		
Proceeds	\$ 268,369	\$1,337,950		
Gross gains realized	12,728	48,486		
Gross losses realized	(505)	(6,342)		

# **Note 2 - Investments-(Continued)**

# Other-Than-Temporary Impairments

The Company s methodology of assessing other-than-temporary impairments is based on security-specific facts and circumstances as of the date of the reporting period. Based on these facts, if the Company has the intent to sell the debt security, or if it is more likely than not the Company will be required to sell the debt security before the anticipated recovery in fair value or if management does not expect to recover the entire cost basis of the debt security, an other-than-temporary impairment is considered to have occurred. For equity securities, if the Company does not have the ability and intent to hold the security for the recovery of cost within a reasonable period of time, an other-than-temporary impairment is considered to have occurred. As a general rule, if the fair value of a debt security has fallen below 80% of book value, this security will be reviewed for an other-than-temporary impairment. Also as a general rule, if the fair value of an equity security has declined below cost, this security will be reviewed for an other-than-temporary impairment including an assessment of whether recovery in fair value is likely to occur within a reasonable period of time. Additionally, if events become known that call into question whether the security issuer has the ability to honor its contractual commitments, whether or not such security has been trading above an 80% fair value to cost relationship, such security holding will be evaluated to determine whether or not such security has suffered an other-than-temporary decline in value.

The Company reviews the fair value of all investments in its portfolio on a monthly basis to assess whether an other-than-temporary decline in value has occurred. These reviews, in conjunction with the Company s investment managers monthly credit reports and relevant factors such as (1) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, (2) the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than amortized cost for fixed maturity securities or cost for equity securities, (3) for debt securities, the Company s intent to sell a security or whether it is more likely than not the Company will be required to sell the security before the anticipated recovery in fair value or maturity; and for equity securities, the Company s ability and intent to hold the security for the recovery of cost within a reasonable period of time, (4) the stock price trend of the issuer, (5) the market leadership position of the issuer, (6) the debt ratings of the issuer, (7) the cash flows of the issuer or the underlying cash flows for asset-backed securities and (8) a near-term recovery period for equity securities, are all considered in the impairment assessment. A write-down of an investment is recorded when a decline in the fair value of that investment is deemed to be other-than-temporary, with a realized investment loss charged to income for the period for all equity securities and for credit related losses associated with impaired debt securities. The amount of the total other-than-temporary impairment related to other factors for debt securities is recognized in other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes. For securities that are other-than-temporarily impaired, a discussion of the valuation of the credit loss portion of the other-than-temporarily impaired security recognized in earnings is provided, as applicable, in the respective section of this note to financial statements.

# **Note 2 - Investments-(Continued)**

Additional considerations for certain types of securities include the following:

# Corporate Debt Securities

Judgments regarding whether a corporate debt security is other-than-temporarily impaired include analyzing the issuer s financial condition and whether there has been a decline in the issuer s ability to service the specific security. The analysis of the security issuer is based on asset coverage, cash flow multiples or other industry standards. Several factors assessed include, but are not limited to, credit quality ratings, cash flow sustainability, liquidity, financial strength, industry and market position. Sources of information include, but are not limited to, management projections, independent consultants, external analysts research, peer analysis and the Company s internal analysis.

If the Company has concerns regarding the viability of the issuer or its ability to service the specific security after this analysis, a cash flow analysis is prepared to determine if the recovery value has declined below the amortized cost of the debt security. This analysis to determine an estimate of ultimate recovery value is combined with the estimated timing to recovery and any other applicable cash flows that are expected. If a cash flow analysis estimate is not feasible, then the market s view of cash flows implied by the period end fair value, market discount rates and effective yield are the primary factors used to estimate recovery.

Mortgage-Backed Securities Not Issued By the U.S. Government and Federally Sponsored Agencies

The Company evaluates its mortgage-backed securities for other-than-temporary impairment using multiple inputs. Factors which influence the probability of default are debt-servicing, missed refinancing opportunities and geography. Loan level characteristics such as issuer, FICO score, payment terms, level of documentation, property or residency type, and economic outlook are also utilized in financial models, along with historical performance, to estimate or measure the loan s propensity to default. Additionally, financial models take into account loan age, lease rollovers, rent volatilities, vacancy rates and exposure to refinancing as additional drivers of default. For transactions where loan level data is not available, financial models use a proxy based on the collateral characteristics. Loss severity is a function of multiple factors including, but not limited to, the unpaid balance, interest rate, mortgage insurance ratios, assessed property value at origination, change in property valuation and loan-to-value ratio at origination. Prepayment speeds, both actual and estimated, cost of capital rates, and debt service ratios are also considered. The cash flows generated by the collateral securing these securities are then estimated with these default, loss severity and prepayment assumptions. These collateral cash flows are then utilized, along with consideration for the issue s position in the overall structure, to estimate the cash flows associated with the residential or commercial mortgage-backed security held by the Company.

# **Note 2 - Investments-(Continued)**

# Municipal Bonds

The Company s municipal bond portfolio consists primarily of special revenue bonds, which present unique considerations in evaluating other-than-temporary impairments, but also includes general obligation bonds. The Company evaluates special revenue bonds for other-than-temporary impairment based on guarantees associated with the repayment from revenues generated by the specified revenue-generating activity associated with the purpose of the bonds. Judgments regarding whether a municipal debt security is other-than-temporarily impaired include analyzing the issuer s financial condition and whether there has been a decline in the overall value of the issuer or its ability to service the specific security. Security credit ratings are reviewed with emphasis on the economy, finances, debt and management of the municipal issuer. Municipalities possess unique powers, along with a special legal standing and protections, that enable them to act quickly to restore budgetary balance and fiscal integrity. These powers include the sovereign power to tax, access one-time revenue sources, capacity to issue or restructure debt and ability to shift spending to other authorities. State governments often provide secondary support to local governments in times of financial stress and the federal government has provided assistance to state governments during recessions.

If the Company has concerns regarding the viability of the municipal issuer or its ability to service the specific security after this analysis, a recovery value analysis is prepared to determine if the recovery value has declined below the amortized cost of the security. This analysis to determine an estimate of ultimate recovery value is combined with the estimated timing to recovery and any other applicable cash flows that are expected. If a recovery estimate is not feasible, then the market s view of cash flows implied by the period end fair value, market discount rates and effective yield are the primary factors used to estimate recovery.

# Credit Losses

The Company estimates the amount of the credit loss component of a debt security impairment as the difference between amortized cost and the present value of the expected cash flows of the security. The present value is determined using the best estimate cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate implicit to the security at the date of purchase or the current yield to accrete an asset-backed or floating rate security. The methodology and assumptions for establishing the best estimate cash flows vary depending on the type of security. Corporate debt security and municipal bond cash flow estimates are derived from scenario-based outcomes of expected restructurings or the disposition of assets using specific facts and other circumstances, including timing, security interests and loss severity. The cash flow estimates for mortgage-backed and other structured securities are based on bond specific facts and circumstances that may include collateral characteristics, expectations of delinquency and default rates, loss severity and prepayment speeds, and structural support, including subordination and guarantees.

# **Note 2 - Investments-(Continued)**

The following table summarizes the cumulative amounts related to the Company s credit loss component of the other-than-temporarily impaired losses on debt securities held as of September 30, 2009 that the Company does not intend to sell, and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the security prior to recovery of the amortized cost basis, for which a portion of the other-than-temporary impaired loss was recognized in other comprehensive income:

	Periods September	
	Three Months	Six (2) Months
Cumulative credit loss (1)		
Beginning of period	\$ 3,355	\$ -
New credit losses	-	3,355
End of period	\$ 3,355	\$ 3,355

- (1) The cumulative credit loss amounts exclude other-than-temporary impairment losses on securities held as of the periods indicated that the Company intended to sell or it was more likely than not that the Company would be required to sell the security before the recovery of the amortized cost.
- (2) Effective April 1, 2009, the Company prospectively adopted the accounting guidance in FASB ASC paragraph 320-10-65-1.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company's net realized investment gains of \$21,658 included \$49,304 of realized gains on security sales and calls partially offset by other-than-temporary impairment losses on securities recognized in earnings of \$27,646. These impairment losses were comprised of \$21,100 of impairment write-downs and \$6,546 of realized impairment losses on securities that were disposed of during the first, second and third quarters of 2009.

In the third quarter of 2009, pretax net realized investment gains of \$11,410 included (1) \$1,290 of impairment write-downs attributable to three issuers and (2) \$518 of realized losses on securities that were disposed of during the quarter. The impairment amounts were more than offset by \$13,218 of realized gains on other security disposals.

In the second quarter of 2009, pretax net realized investment gains were \$11,095, which included (1) \$3,355 of credit related impairment write-downs, primarily related to a collateralized debt obligation security, (2) \$597 of impairment write-downs on equity securities and securities the Company intended to sell, and (3) \$4,134 of realized losses on securities that were disposed of during the quarter, primarily financial institution and telecommunications sector securities. The impairment amounts were largely offset by \$6,099 of realized gains on previously impaired securities that were disposed of during the quarter, primarily financial sector securities. In addition, the second quarter reflected \$13,082 of realized gains on other security disposals.

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

In the first quarter of 2009, pretax net realized investment losses were \$847, including \$15,857 of impairment charges. These charges were comprised of \$13,450 of impairment write-downs, primarily below investment grade perpetual preferred stocks, and \$2,407 of impairments on securities that the Company no longer intended to hold until the value fully recovers, primarily high-yield bonds. In addition, the Company recorded \$1,895 of realized losses on securities that were disposed of during the quarter, primarily high-yield investments. These losses were largely offset by \$16,905 of realized gains on security disposals.

# **Note 2 - Investments-(Continued)**

Gross Unrealized Gains and Losses for Fixed Maturities and Equity Securities

The amortized cost, unrealized investment gains and losses, fair values and other-than-temporary impairment (OTTI) included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (AOCI) of all fixed maturities and equity securities in the portfolio as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008 were as follows:

	Amortized Cost			Unrealized Gains		nrealized Losses	Fair Value			TTI in CI (2)
As of September 30, 2009										
Fixed maturity securities										
U.S. government and federally sponsored agency obligations (1)										
Mortgage-backed securities	\$	451,222	\$	23,993	\$	114	\$	475,101		
Other		284,591		3,217		1,207		286,601		
Municipal bonds		842,706		57,903		1,850		898,759		
Foreign government bonds		23,980		3,182		119		27,043		
Corporate bonds	1,	,801,612		113,222		39,020	]	,875,814		
Other mortgage-backed securities		521,129		14,865		85,820		450,174	\$ (732)	
Totals	\$ 3,	,925,240	\$	216,382	\$	128,130	\$ 4	1,013,492	\$	(732)
Equity securities	\$	64,775	\$	3,068	\$	7,258	\$	60,585		
As of December 31, 2008										
Fixed maturity securities										
U.S. government and federally sponsored agency obligations (1)										
Mortgage-backed securities	\$	828,907	\$	20,886	\$	347	\$	849,446		
Other		134,161		4,933		83		139,011		
Municipal bonds		507,466		8,591		22,717		493,340		
Foreign government bonds		14,380		716		188		14,908		
Corporate bonds	1,830,684			22,890	218,616		]	,634,958		
Other mortgage-backed securities		472,259		9,794		128,455		353,598		
Totals	\$ 3,787,857		\$	67,810	\$	370,406	\$ 3	3,485,261		
Equity securities	\$	86,184	\$	595	\$	25,210	\$	61,569		

The following table reconciles the net unrealized investment gains and losses, net of tax, included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), before the valuation impact on deferred policy acquisition costs:

<sup>(1)</sup> Fair value includes securities issued by Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA) of \$306,948 and \$494,604; Federal Home Loan Mortgage Association (FHLMA) of \$336,574 and \$390,217; and Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA) of \$43,377 and \$35,778 as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively.

<sup>(2)</sup> Represents the amount of other-than-temporary impairment losses in AOCI which, beginning April 1, 2009, was not included in earnings under FASB ASC paragraph 320-10-65-1.

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

	Periods	Periods Ended				
	September	30, 2009				
	Three	Nine				
	Months	Months				
Net unrealized investment gains (losses), net of tax						
Beginning of period	\$ (111,375)	\$ (212,687)				
Effect of change in accounting principles	-	-				
Change in unrealized investment gains (losses)	173,433	281,406				
Reclassification of realized investment (gains) losses						
to net income	(7,417)	(14,078)				
End of period	\$ 54,641	\$ 54,641				

# **Note 2 - Investments-(Continued)**

At September 30, 2009, the gross unrealized loss position in the fixed maturity and equity securities portfolio was \$135,388 (3.3% of total fixed maturity and equity securities fair value and 416 positions). The following table presents the fair value and gross unrealized losses of fixed maturity securities and equity securities in an unrealized loss position at September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively. While the credit markets and credit spreads continued to improve across virtually all asset classes in the third quarter of 2009 resulting in significant improvement in the Company s gross unrealized loss position, the persisting uncertainty and concern over prolonged economic weakness continue to have an adverse effect on the liquidity and fair value of certain asset classes and securities. The Company views the decrease in value of all of the securities with unrealized losses at September 30, 2009 which was driven largely by spread widening, market illiquidity and changes in interest rates—as temporary, expects recovery in fair value in a reasonable period of time and anticipates continued payments under the contractual terms of the securities. For debt securities, management does not have the intent to sell the securities and it is not more likely than not the Company will be required to sell the securities before the anticipated recovery in fair value or maturity. In addition, management expects to recover the entire cost basis of the debt securities. For equity securities, the Company has the ability and intent to hold the securities for the recovery of cost within a reasonable period of time. Therefore, no other-than-temporary impairment of these securities was recorded at September 30, 2009.

	12 months or less Gross Unrealized		More than 12 months Gross Unrealized			Tota			Gross nrealized		
	Fa	air Value	Losses	Fa	ir Value		Losses	F	air Value		Losses
As of September 30, 2009											
Fixed maturity securities											
U.S. government and federally sponsored agency obligations											
Mortgage-backed securities	\$	2,238	\$ 46	\$	2,483	\$	68	\$	4,721	\$	114
Other		96,768	1,207		-		-		96,768		1,207
Municipal bonds		6,310	136		52,846		1,714		59,156		1,850
Foreign government bonds		3,777	119		-		-		3,777		119
Corporate bonds		36,122	3,233		366,833		35,787		402,955		39,020
Other mortgage-backed securities		65,222	6,959		173,462		78,861		238,684		85,820
Totals	\$	210,437	\$ 11,700	\$	595,624	\$	116,430	\$	806,061	\$	128,130
Equity securities	\$	5,634	\$ 1,259	\$	30,389	\$	5,999	\$	36,023	\$	7,258
As of December 31, 2008 Fixed maturity securities											
U.S. government and federally sponsored agency obligations											
Mortgage-backed securities	\$	37,982	\$ 212	\$	6,780	\$	135	\$	44,762	\$	347
Other		2,317	83		-		-		2,317		83
Municipal bonds		165,004	9,140		101,890		13,577		266,894		22,717
Foreign government bonds		3,996	188		-		-		3,996		188
Corporate bonds		739,703	115,299		456,149		103,317		1,195,852		218,616
Other mortgage-backed securities		167,567	58,340		70,776		70,115		238,343		128,455

Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Totals	\$ 1,	116,569	\$	183,262	\$	635,595	\$	187,144	\$ 1,	752,164	\$	370,406
Equity securities	•	22 880	Ф	0.263	¢	23 250	Ф	15,947	¢	46 130	¢	25 210
Equity securities	Ф	22,000	Φ	9,203	Φ	23,230	Φ	13,947	Ф	40,130	Φ	23,210

The Company s investment portfolio includes no derivative financial instruments (futures, forwards, swaps, option contracts or other financial instruments with similar characteristics).

# **Note 3 - Fair Value Measurements**

The Company is required under GAAP to disclose estimated fair values for certain financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values of the Company s insurance contracts other than annuity contracts are not required to be disclosed. However, the estimated fair values of liabilities under all insurance contracts are taken into consideration in the Company s overall management of interest rate risk through the matching of investment maturities with amounts due under insurance contracts. Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the prescribed framework for measuring fair value in accordance with GAAP; however, the effective date for applying the framework to nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are not presented at fair value in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis was deferred for one year. Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the fair value disclosure requirements for these nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities.

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. In determining fair value, the Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The Company categorizes its financial and non-financial assets and liabilities into a three-level hierarchy based on the priority of the inputs to the valuation technique. The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value are:

- Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 1 assets and liabilities include debt and equity securities (both common stock and preferred stock) that are traded in an active exchange market, as well as U.S. Treasury securities.
- Level 2 Unadjusted observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for the assets or liabilities. Level 2 assets and liabilities include debt securities with quoted prices that are traded less frequently than exchange-traded instruments. This category generally includes certain U.S. Government and agency mortgage-backed debt securities, non-agency structured securities, corporate debt securities and preferred stocks.
- Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Level 3 assets and liabilities include financial instruments whose value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation. This category generally includes certain private debt and equity investments.

21

# **Note 3 - Fair Value Measurements-(Continued)**

When the inputs used to measure fair value fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the level within which the fair value measurement is categorized is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. As a result, a Level 3 fair value measurement may include inputs that are observable (Level 1 or Level 2) and unobservable (Level 3). Net transfers into or out of Level 3 are reported as having occurred at the end of the reporting period in which the transfers were determined.

The following discussion describes the valuation methodologies used for financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value. The techniques utilized in estimating the fair values are affected by the assumptions used, including discount rates and estimates of the amount and timing of future cash flows. The use of different methodologies, assumptions and inputs may have a material effect on the estimated fair values of the Company s securities holdings. Care should be exercised in deriving conclusions about the Company s business, its value or financial position based on the fair value information of financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities presented below.

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on available market information and judgments about the financial asset or financial liability, including estimates of timing, amount of expected future cash flows and the credit standing of the issuer. In some cases, the fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent markets. In addition, the disclosed fair value may not be realized in the immediate settlement of the financial asset or financial liability. In addition, the disclosed fair values do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time an entire holding of a particular financial asset or financial liability. In periods of market disruption, the ability to observe prices and inputs may be reduced for many instruments. This condition could cause an instrument to be reclassified from Level 1 to Level 2 or from Level 2 to Level 3. Potential taxes and other expenses that would be incurred in an actual sale or settlement are not reflected in amounts disclosed.

22

# **Note 3 - Fair Value Measurements-(Continued)**

#### Investments

Fair values for the Company s fixed maturity securities are based on prices provided by its investment managers and its custodian bank. Both the investment managers and the custodian bank use a variety of independent, nationally recognized pricing sources to determine market valuations. Each designate specific pricing services or indexes for each sector of the market based upon the provider s expertise. Typical inputs used by these pricing sources include, but are not limited to, reported trades, benchmark yields, issuer spreads, bids, offers, and/or estimated cash flows and prepayment speeds. When the pricing sources cannot provide fair value determinations, the Company obtains non-binding price quotes from broker-dealers. The broker-dealers valuation methodology is sometimes matrix-based, using indicative evaluation measures and adjustments for specific security characteristics and market sentiment. The Company analyzes price and market valuations received to verify reasonableness, to understand the key assumptions used and their sources, to conclude the prices obtained are appropriate, and to determine an appropriate fair value hierarchy level based upon trading activity and the observability of market inputs. Based on this evaluation and investment class analysis, each price is classified into Level 1, 2, or 3. The Company has in place certain control processes to determine the reasonableness of the financial asset fair values. These processes are designed to ensure the values received are accurately recorded and that the data inputs and valuation techniques utilized are appropriate, consistently applied, and that the assumptions are reasonable and consistent with the objective of determining fair value. For example, on a continuing basis, the Company assesses the reasonableness of individual security values received from pricing sources that vary from certain thresholds. Historically, the control processes have not resulted in adjustments to the valuations provided by pricing sources. The Company s fixed maturity securities portfolio is primarily publicly traded, which allows for a high percentage of the portfolio to be priced through pricing services. Approximately 93% of the portfolio was priced through pricing services or index priced as of September 30, 2009. The remainder of the portfolio was priced by broker-dealers, and these inputs were generally Level 2. There were no significant changes to the valuation process during the first nine months of 2009.

Fair values of equity securities have been determined by the Company from observable market quotations, when available. Private placement securities and equity securities where a public quotation is not available are valued by using non-binding broker quotes or through the use of internal models or analysis. These inputs are based on assumptions deemed appropriate given the circumstances and are believed to be consistent with what other market participants would use when pricing such securities.

Short-term and other investments are comprised of policy loans, short-term fixed income securities and mortgage loans. The fair value of policy loans is based on estimates using discounted cash flow analysis and current interest rates being offered for new loans. For short-term fixed income securities, because of the nature of these assets, carrying amounts approximate fair values, which have been determined from public quotations, when available. The fair value of mortgage loans is estimated by discounting the future cash flows using the current rates at which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and the same remaining maturities.

23

# **Note 3 - Fair Value Measurements-(Continued)**

### Separate Account Assets

Separate Account assets are carried at fair value and represent variable annuity contractholder funds invested in various mutual funds. Fair values of these assets are based on public quotations. Investment performance related to Separate Account assets is fully offset by corresponding amounts credited to contractholders with the liability reflected within Separate Account liabilities. Separate Account liabilities are equal to the estimated fair value of Separate Account assets, as prescribed by FASB ASC Subtopic 944-80.

Annuity Contract Liabilities and Policyholder Account Balances on Interest-sensitive Life Contracts

The fair values of annuity contract liabilities and policyholder account balances on interest-sensitive life contracts are equal to the discounted estimated future cash flows (using the Company s current interest rates for similar products including consideration of minimum guaranteed interest rates). The Company carries these financial liabilities at cost.

#### Other Policyholder Funds

Other policyholder funds are liabilities related to supplementary contracts without life contingencies and dividend accumulations, which represent deposits that do not have defined maturities. Other policyholder funds are carried at cost, which management believes is a reasonable estimate of fair value due to the short duration of these deposits.

#### Short-term Debt

Short-term debt is carried at amortized cost, which management believes is a reasonable estimate of fair value due to the liquidity and short duration of these instruments.

# Long-term Debt

The Company carries long-term debt at amortized cost. The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on unadjusted quoted market prices of identical publicly traded issues.

24

# **Note 3 - Fair Value Measurements-(Continued)**

The following table presents the Company s fair value hierarchy for those assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring and nonrecurring basis as of September 30, 2009. At September 30, 2009, Level 3 invested assets comprised approximately 0.4% of the Company s total investment portfolio fair value.

	Carrying Fair Amount Value			lue Measurem ting Date Usin Level 2		
September 30, 2009	Amount	value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	
Financial Assets						
Investments						
Fixed maturities						
U.S. government and federally sponsored agency obligations						
Mortgage-backed securities	\$ 475,101	\$ 475,101	\$ -	\$ 475,101	\$ -	
Other	286,601	286,601	13,711	272,890	_	
Municipal bonds	898,758	898,758	-	898,758	_	
Foreign government bonds	27,043	27,043	_	27,043	_	
Corporate bonds	1,875,815	1,875,815	42,950	1,832,865	_	
Other mortgage-backed securities	450,174	450,174	-	432,226	17,948	
	10 0,2 / 1	12 0,2 7 7		10 _,0	-1,5	
Totals	4,013,492	4,013,492	56,661	3,938,883	17,948	
Equity securities	60,585	60,585	30,591	29,773	221	
Short-term and other investments (2)	516,752	503,501	402,801	29,113	221	
Short-term and other investments (2)	310,732	505,501	402,001	_	_	
Total investments	4,590,829	4,577,578	490,053	3,968,656	18,169	
Separate Account (variable annuity) assets	1,153,726	1,153,726	-	1,153,726	-	
Financial Liabilities						
Policyholder account balances on interest-sensitive life contracts	79,792	70,177				
Annuity contract liabilities	2,324,643	2,014,423				
Other policyholder funds	121,137	121,137				
Short-term debt	38,000	38,000				
Long-term debt	199,598	195,775				
<u>December 31, 2008</u>						
Financial Assets						
Investments						
Fixed maturities (3)	\$ 3,485,261	\$ 3,485,261	\$ 49,101	\$ 3,405,721	\$ 30,439	
Equity securities	61,569	61,569	31,675	29,439	455	
Short-term and other investments (2)	354,925	358,510	244,579	1,097	-	
Total investments	3,901,755	3,905,340	325,355	3,436,257	30,894	
Separate Account (variable annuity) assets	965,217	965,217	-	965,217	-	
Financial Liabilities						
Policyholder account balances on interest-sensitive life contracts	80,250	70,580				
Annuity contract liabilities	2,166,518	1,877,400				
Other policyholder funds	128,359	128,359				
Short-term debt	38,000	38,000				
Long-term debt	199,549	189,480				

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

- (1) This information is not required for financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities not recognized at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets.
- (2) Fair value of Short-term and other investments includes investments, primarily policy loans, for which inputs to fair value measurements are not required. Inputs to fair value measurements are provided only for those investments carried at fair value.
- (3) At December 31, 2008, disclosure by major classification for investments was not required.

25

### **Note 3 - Fair Value Measurements-(Continued)**

The following table presents a reconciliation for all Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2009.

		Fixed aturities		quity urities	Total
Financial Assets					
Beginning balance, July 1, 2009	\$	20,727	\$	455	\$21,182
Total net gains (losses) (realized and unrealized)		1,889		(234)	1,655
Paydowns and maturities		(760)		-	(760)
Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements		(1,290)		-	(1,290)
Transfers in (out) of Level 3 (1)		(2,618)		-	(2,618)
Ending balance, September 30, 2009	\$	17,948	\$	221	\$ 18,169
Paginning balance, January 1, 2000	\$	30,439	\$	455	\$ 30,894
Beginning balance, January 1, 2009 Total net gains (losses) (realized and unrealized)	Φ	(6,243)	Ф	(234)	(6,477)
		,		, ,	
Paydowns and maturities		(2,240)		-	(2,240)
Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements		(5,189)		-	(5,189)
Transfers in (out) of Level 3 (1)		1,181		-	1,181
Ending balance, September 30, 2009	\$	17,948	\$	221	\$ 18,169

For the period January 1, 2009 to September 30, 2009, there were no realized gains or losses, attributable to the change in unrealized gains or losses, included in earnings that were attributable to Level 3 assets still held at September 30, 2009.

Note 4 - Debt

Indebtedness outstanding was as follows:

Short-term debt:	Sept	ember 30, 2009	Dec	ember 31, 2008
Bank Credit Facility	\$	38,000	\$	38,000
Long-term debt:				
6.05% Senior Notes, due June 15, 2015. Aggregate principal amount		74,848		74,828
of \$75,000 less unaccrued discount of \$152 and \$172 (6.1% imputed				

<sup>(1)</sup> Transfers into and out of Level 3 during the periods ended September 30, 2009 were attributable to a change in the availability of observable market information for individual fixed maturity securities.

Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

rate)		
6.85% Senior Notes, due April 15, 2016. Aggregate principal amount		
of \$125,000 less unaccrued discount of \$250 and \$279 (6.9% imputed		
rate)	124,750	124,721
Total	\$ 237,598	\$ 237,549

The Bank Credit Facility, 6.05% Senior Notes due 2015 (Senior Notes due 2015) and 6.85% Senior Notes due 2016 (Senior Notes due 2016) are described in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Note 5 Debt of the Company Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

### **Note 5 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits**

The Company has the following retirement plans: a defined contribution plan; a 401(k) plan; a defined benefit plan for employees hired on or before December 31, 1998; and certain employees participate in a supplemental defined contribution plan or a supplemental defined benefit plan or both. Additional information regarding the Company s retirement plans is contained in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Note 9 Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

The following table summarizes the components of net periodic pension cost recognized for the defined benefit plan and the supplemental defined benefit plans for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008.

	Defined Benefit Plan						
		nths Ended nber 30,	Nine Mont Septem				
	2009	2008	2009	2008			
Components of net periodic pension expense:							
Service cost	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -			
Interest (benefit) cost	(328)	960	3,616	1,558			
Expected return on plan assets	383	(1,114)	(4,216)	(1,807)			
Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss	(67)	524	735	850			
Settlement (gain) loss	(130)	219	1,436	355			
Net periodic pension (gain) expense	\$ (142)	\$ 589	\$ 1,571	\$ 956			

	Supplemental Defined Benefit Plans						
		nths Ended nber 30, 2008	Nine Mon Septem 2009				
Components of net periodic pension expense:	2007	2000	2007	2000			
Service cost	\$ (16)	\$ (11)	\$ (41)	\$ (31)			
Interest cost	319	214	828	640			
Expected return on plan assets	-	-	-	-			
Recognized net actuarial loss	83	132	214	397			
Settlement loss	-	-	-	-			
Net periodic pension expense	\$ 386	\$ 335	\$ 1,001	\$ 1,006			

There is no minimum funding requirement for the Company s defined benefit pension plan in 2009. In July 2009, the Company contributed \$2,700 to the defined benefit plan, the total amount which it expects to contribute in 2009. The Company expects to contribute approximately \$1,300 to the supplemental defined benefit plans in 2009, of which \$1,010 was contributed during the nine months ended September 30, 2009. At the time of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company expected to contribute approximately \$5,400 and \$1,100 to the defined benefit plan and supplemental defined benefit plans, respectively, in 2009.

27

### **Note 5 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits-(Continued)**

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Company also provides certain health care and life insurance benefits to retired employees, who meet the plan's eligibility requirements, and their eligible dependents. As described in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 9—Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits—of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, effective January 1, 2007, the Company eliminated the previous health care benefits for retirees 65 years of age and over and established a defined contribution plan with a Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) for each eligible retired participant. Funding of HRA accounts was \$500 and \$740 for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The following table summarizes the components of the net periodic benefit gain for postretirement benefits other than pension for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008.

		nths Ended aber 30,	Nine Months Ende September 30,		
	2009	2008	2009	2008	
Components of net periodic gain:					
Service cost	\$ -	\$ 1	\$ -	\$ 3	
Interest cost	10	38	30	111	
Amortization of prior service cost	(72)	(508)	(216)	(1,523)	
Recognized net actuarial gain	(25)	(107)	(76)	(319)	
Net periodic benefit gain	\$ (87)	\$ (576)	\$ (262)	\$ (1,728)	

Consistent with disclosure in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Note 9 Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company expects to contribute approximately \$700 to the defined benefit postretirement benefit plans other than pensions in 2009, of which \$546 was contributed during the nine months ended September 30, 2009.

### Note 6 - Reinsurance

The Company recognizes the cost of reinsurance premiums over the contract periods for such premiums in proportion to the insurance protection provided. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for unpaid claims and claim settlement expenses, including estimated amounts for unsettled claims, claims incurred but not reported and policy benefits, are estimated in a manner consistent with the insurance liability associated with the policy. The effects of reinsurance on premiums written and contract deposits; premiums and contract charges earned; and benefits, claims and settlement expenses were as follows:

	Gross Amount	Ceded	Assumed	Net
Three months ended	7 Amount	Ceaca	rissurreu	1100
5 4 1 20 2000				
<u>September 30, 2009</u>				
Premiums written and contract deposits	\$ 279,227	\$ 8,411	\$ 934	\$ 271,750
Premiums and contract charges earned	173,277	8,420	988	165,845
Benefits, claims and settlement expenses	124,840	3,073	840	122,607
Three months ended				
September 30, 2008				
Premiums written and contract deposits	\$ 258,666	\$ 8,177	\$ 931	\$ 251,420
Premiums and contract charges earned	170,671	8,174	973	163,470
Benefits, claims and settlement expenses	132,347	2,360	1,227	131,214
Nine months ended				
September 30, 2009				
Premiums written and contract deposits	\$ 780,352	\$ 25,536	\$ 2,930	\$ 757,746
Premiums and contract charges earned	515,342	26,524	3,032	491,850
Benefits, claims and settlement expenses	353,986	8,115	2,717	348,588
Nine months ended				
September 30, 2008				
Premiums written and contract deposits	\$ 742,604	\$ 23,695	\$ 2,100	\$721,009
Premiums and contract charges earned	512,464	24,964	2,222	489,722
Benefits, claims and settlement expenses	367,832	9,507	1,913	360,238

### **Note 7 - Segment Information**

The Company conducts and manages its business through four segments. The three operating segments, representing the major lines of insurance business, are: property and casualty insurance, principally personal lines automobile and homeowners products; annuity products, principally individual, tax-qualified fixed and variable deposits; and life insurance. The Company does not allocate the impact of corporate level transactions to the insurance segments, consistent with the basis for management sevaluation of the results of those segments, but classifies those items in the fourth segment, corporate and other. In addition to ongoing transactions such as debt service, realized investment gains and losses and certain public company expenses, within the past five years such items also have included debt retirement costs/gains. Summarized financial information for these segments is as follows:

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2009 2008				oths Ended ober 30, 2008
Insurance premiums and contract charges earned					
Property and casualty	\$ 13'	7,537	\$ 134,577	\$ 408,384	\$ 402,036
Annuity	,	3,718	4,240	10,271	13,843
Life	24	4,590	24,653	73,195	73,843
Total	\$ 16:	5,845	\$ 163,470	\$ 491,850	\$489,722
Net investment income					
Property and casualty		8,828	\$ 8,741		\$ 27,025
Annuity		7,773	34,415		101,528
Life	10	6,117	14,914	· ·	44,448
Corporate and other		4	5	14	41
Intersegment eliminations		(264)	(269	(796)	(811)
Total	\$ 62	2,458	\$ 57,806	\$ 181,399	\$ 172,231
Net income (loss)					
Property and casualty	\$ :	3,789	\$ (1,252	2) \$ 19,766	\$ 13,634
Annuity	,	7,258	6,231	14,819	14,377
Life	4	4,541	4,411	12,946	12,162
Corporate and other		3,693	(40,198	3,785	(52,183)
Total	\$ 19	9,281	\$ (30,808	\$ 51,316	\$ (12,010)
Amortization of intangible assets, pretax (included in segment net income)					
Value of acquired insurance in force					
Annuity	\$	-	\$ 919	\$ -	\$ 3,083
Life		-	323	223	977

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Total	2	- \$	1 242	2	223	2	4 060
1 Otal	Ψ	- ψ	1,474	Ψ	223	Ψ	T,000

	September 30, 2009	De	ecember 31, 2008
Assets			
Property and casualty	\$ 929,941	\$	867,590
Annuity	4,000,548		3,509,119
Life	1,262,939		1,035,739
Corporate and other	129,779		133,172
Intersegment eliminations	(31,108)		(37,902)
Total	\$ 6,292,099	\$	5,507,718

### **Note 8 - Contingencies**

In August 2009, the State of North Carolina adopted legislation that creates uncertainty about the ownership status of the accumulated surplus of the North Carolina Beach Plan (the Plan), hereafter to be known as the North Carolina Coastal Property Pool. The legislation provides that the accumulated surplus held shall be retained from year to year and members shall not be entitled to distributions of any portion of the surplus. The legislation also caps future assessments that may be levied against insurers. Negotiations are on-going concerning the ownership and disposition of the existing accumulated surplus. Additional legislation, administrative remedies, and potential litigation are under consideration. The Company s equity interest in the accumulated surplus of the Plan at September 30, 2009 was approximately \$5 million and is included in Other Assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

### MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

### FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

### **Forward-looking Information**

Statements made in the following discussion that state the Company s or management s intentions, hopes, beliefs, expectations or predictions of future events or the Company s future financial performance are forward-looking statements and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors. Horace Mann is not under any obligation to (and expressly disclaims any such obligation to) update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. It is important to note that the Company s actual results could differ materially from those projected in forward-looking statements due to, among other risks and uncertainties inherent in the Company s business, the following important factors:

Changes in the composition of the Company s assets and liabilities which may result from occurrences such as acquisitions, divestitures, impairment in asset values or changes in estimates of insurance reserves.

Fluctuations in the fair value of securities in the Company s investment portfolio and the related after-tax effect on the Company s shareholders equity and total capital through either realized or unrealized investment losses, as well as the potential impact on the ability of the Company s insurance subsidiaries to distribute cash to the holding company and/or need for the holding company to make capital contributions to the insurance subsidiaries. In addition, the impact of fluctuations in the financial markets on the Company s defined benefit pension plan assets and the related after-tax effect on the Company s operating expenses, shareholders equity and total capital.

The impact of fluctuations in the financial markets on the Company s variable annuity fee revenues, valuations of deferred policy acquisition costs, and the level of guaranteed minimum death benefit reserves.

The impact of fluctuations in the capital markets on the Company s ability to refinance outstanding indebtedness or repurchase shares of the Company s common stock.

Defaults on interest or dividend payments in the Company s investment portfolio due to credit issues and the resulting impact on investment income.

Prevailing interest rate levels, including the impact of interest rates on (1) unrealized gains and losses in the Company s investment portfolio and the related after-tax effect on the Company s shareholders equity and total capital, (2) the book yield of the Company s investment portfolio, (3) the Company s ability to maintain appropriate interest rate spreads over the fixed rates guaranteed in the Company s life and annuity products and (4) valuations of deferred policy acquisition costs.

The cyclicality of the insurance industry and the related effects of changes in price competition and industry-wide underwriting results.

The impact that a prolonged economic recession may have on the Company s investment portfolio; volume of new business for automobile, homeowners, annuity and life products; policy renewal rates; and additional annuity contract deposit receipts.

The frequency and severity of catastrophes such as hurricanes, earthquakes, storms and wildfires and the ability of the Company to provide accurate estimates of ultimate catastrophe costs in its consolidated financial statements in light of such factors as: the proximity of the catastrophe occurrence date to the date of the consolidated financial statements; potential inflation of property repair costs in the affected area; the occurrence of multiple catastrophes in a geographic area over a relatively short period of time; the outcome of litigation which may be filed against the Company by policyholders, state attorneys general and other parties relative to loss coverage disputes and loss settlement payments; and the ability of state insurance facilities to assess participating insurers when financial deficits occur.

The Company s risk exposure to catastrophe-prone areas. Based on full year 2008 property and casualty direct earned premiums, the Company s ten largest states represented 58% of the segment total. Included in this top ten group are certain states which are considered more prone to catastrophe occurrences: Florida, California, North Carolina, Texas, Louisiana, South Carolina and Georgia.

The potential near-term, adverse impact of underwriting actions to mitigate the Company s risk exposure to catastrophe-prone areas on premium, policy and earnings growth.

The ability of the Company to maintain a favorable catastrophe reinsurance program considering both availability and cost; and the collectibility of reinsurance receivables.

Adverse development of property and casualty loss and loss adjustment expense reserve experience and its impact on estimated claims and claim settlement expenses for losses occurring in prior years.

Adverse changes in market appreciation, interest spreads, business persistency and policyholder mortality and morbidity rates and the resulting impact on both estimated reserves and the valuations of deferred policy acquisition costs.

Changes in insurance regulations, including (1) those affecting the ability of the Company s insurance subsidiaries to distribute cash to the holding company and (2) those impacting the Company s ability to profitably write property and casualty insurance policies in one or more states.

Changes in federal and state tax laws, including changes in elements of taxation, and changes resulting from tax audits affecting corporate tax rates.

Changes in federal and state laws and regulations, which affect the relative tax and other advantages of the Company s life and annuity products to customers, including, but not limited to, changes in IRS regulations governing Section 403(b) plans.

The resolution of legal proceedings and related matters including the potential adverse impact on the Company s reputation and charges against the Company s earnings resulting from legal defense costs, a settlement agreement and/or an adverse finding or findings against the Company from the proceedings.

The Company s ability to maintain favorable claims-paying ability ratings.

The Company s ability to maintain favorable financial strength and debt ratings.

The Company s ability to profitably expand its property and casualty business in highly competitive environments.

The competitive impact of the new Section 403(b) tax-qualified annuity regulations, including (1) their potential to lead plan sponsors to restrict the number of providers and (2) the possible entry into the 403(b) market of larger competitors experienced in 401(k) plans.

The Company s ability to develop and expand its marketing operations, including agents and other points of distribution, as well as the Company s ability to maintain and secure sponsorships by local, state and national education associations.

The Company s dated and complex information systems, which are difficult to upgrade and more prone to error than advanced technology systems.

Disruptions of the general business climate, investments, capital markets and consumer attitudes caused by pandemics or geopolitical acts such as terrorism, war or other similar events.

### **Executive Summary**

Horace Mann Educators Corporation (HMEC; and together with its subsidiaries, the Company or Horace Mann) is an insurance holding company. Through its subsidiaries, HMEC markets and underwrites personal lines of property and casualty insurance, retirement annuities and life insurance in the U.S. The Company markets its products primarily to K-12 teachers, administrators and other employees of public schools and their families.

For the three months ended September 30, 2009, the Company s net income of \$19.3 million increased \$50.1 million compared to the prior year s net loss. After-tax net realized investment gains and losses improved by \$44.9 million between periods. The Company s property and casualty combined ratio of 104.1% for the third quarter of 2009 was 5.6 percentage points less than the same period in 2008. Catastrophe costs decreased \$15.6 million after tax, representing 18.0 percentage points on the combined ratio. This included the absence of hurricanes; however, non-hurricane catastrophe costs were well above normal levels during the current period. The third quarter 2009 combined ratio reflected about 3 percentage points due to the re-estimation and strengthening of 2009 accident year reserves. The remainder of the unfavorable prior year combined ratio variance in part reflected an increase in large property losses, primarily sinkhole claims in Florida. In addition, for the automobile line the adverse prior year variance was in large part due to the extremely favorable loss experience in the third quarter of 2008, which reflected the impact of higher gas prices on miles driven. Year to date, the current accident year automobile loss ratio was only slightly above prior year and was consistent with management s expectations. Annuity segment net income increased \$1.0 million compared to the third quarter of 2008, as current period improvements in the interest margin and the positive three month impact of the financial market performance on the valuations of deferred policy acquisition costs and the guaranteed minimum death benefit reserve offset the decrease in variable annuity contract charges earned. Life segment net income was comparable to a year earlier.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company s net income of \$51.3 million represented an increase of \$63.3 million compared to the net loss recorded in the first nine months of 2008. After-tax net realized investment gains and losses improved by \$58.2 million between periods. The current period included transition costs of approximately \$3.4 million after tax related to the Company s property and casualty claims office consolidation and distribution strategies, nearly all of which were incurred in the first quarter. Catastrophe costs decreased \$20.9 million after tax. The increase in non-hurricane catastrophe costs experienced in the third quarter of 2009 was a continuation of the higher-than-average levels experienced in the first six months of the year. The current period increase in large property losses, primarily sinkhole claims in Florida, and automobile favorable loss experience in 2008 described above were also factors impacting comparisons of net income for the nine months. In addition, compared to the first nine months of 2008, net income in the current period

Table of Contents 48

34

decreased by \$2.0 million due to a modest decrease in the level of favorable prior years—property and casualty reserve development. Including all factors, the property and casualty combined ratio was 100.9% for the first nine months of 2009 compared to 103.3% for the same period in 2008. Annuity segment net income increased \$0.4 million compared to the first nine months of 2008, as current year improvements in the interest margin and the favorable impact of the financial markets on the valuations of deferred policy acquisition costs and the guaranteed minimum death benefit reserve offset the adverse impact of the financial markets on the level of contract charges earned year to date. Life segment net income increased \$0.7 million compared to a year earlier, reflecting growth in investment income partially offset by an increase in mortality costs.

Premiums written and contract deposits increased 8% and 5%, compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, respectively, primarily reflecting an increase in annuity single premium and rollover deposit receipts in the current periods. New automobile sales units for the current period were 5% less than the first nine months of 2008, although average agent true new automobile sales productivity increased compared to a year earlier. The automobile new business decrease was offset by favorable policy retention and growth in average premium per policy. Life segment insurance premiums and contract deposits decreased slightly compared to the prior year.

### **Critical Accounting Policies**

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires the Company s management to make estimates and assumptions based on information available at the time the consolidated financial statements are prepared. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of the Company s consolidated assets, liabilities, shareholders equity and net income. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the Company s consolidated financial statements and because of the possibility that subsequent events and available information may differ markedly from management s judgements at the time the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Management has discussed with the Audit Committee the quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company s accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting. The discussions generally included such matters as the consistency of the Company s accounting policies and their application, and the clarity and completeness of the Company s consolidated financial statements, which include related disclosures. For the Company, the areas most subject to significant management judgements include: fair value measurements, other-than-temporary impairment of investments, goodwill, deferred policy acquisition costs for annuity and interest-sensitive life products, deferred taxes, liabilities for property and casualty claims and claim settlement expenses, liabilities for future policy benefits and valuation of assets and liabilities related to the defined benefit pension plan.

35

#### Fair Value Measurements

The Company adopted, in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) *Accounting Standards Codification*<sup>TM</sup> (ASC) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, a framework for measuring fair value that includes a hierarchy used to classify the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three levels. When the inputs used to measure fair value fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the level within which the fair value measurement is categorized is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

- Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 1 assets and liabilities include debt and equity securities (both common stock and preferred stock) that are traded in an active exchange market, as well as U.S. Treasury securities.
- Level 2 Unadjusted observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for the assets or liabilities. Level 2 assets and liabilities include debt securities with quoted prices that are traded less frequently than exchange-traded instruments. This category generally includes certain U.S. Government and agency mortgage-backed debt securities, non-agency structured securities, corporate debt securities and preferred stocks.
- Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Level 3 assets and liabilities include financial instruments whose value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation. This category generally includes certain private debt and equity investments.

At September 30, 2009, Level 3 invested assets comprised approximately 0.4% of the Company s total investment portfolio fair value. For additional detail, see Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Note 3 Fair Value Measurements .

#### Valuation of Significant Investments

Fair values for the Company s fixed maturity securities are based on prices provided by its investment managers and its custodian bank. Both the investment managers and the custodian bank use a variety of independent, nationally recognized pricing sources to determine market valuations. Each designate specific pricing services or indexes for each sector of the market based upon the provider s expertise. Typical inputs used by these pricing sources include, but are not limited to, reported trades, benchmark yields, issuer spreads, bids, offers, and/or estimated cash flows and prepayment speeds. When the pricing sources cannot provide fair value determinations, the Company obtains non-binding price quotes from broker-dealers. The broker-dealers valuation methodology is sometimes matrix-based, using indicative evaluation measures and adjustments for specific security characteristics and market sentiment. The Company analyzes price and market valuations received to verify reasonableness, to understand the key assumptions used and their sources, to conclude the

prices obtained are appropriate, and to determine an appropriate fair value hierarchy level based upon trading activity and the observability of market inputs. Based on this evaluation and investment class analysis, each price is classified into Level 1, 2 or 3. The Company has in place certain control processes to determine the reasonableness of the financial asset fair values. These processes are designed to ensure the values received are accurately recorded and that the data inputs and valuation techniques utilized are appropriate, consistently applied, and that the assumptions are reasonable and consistent with the objective of determining fair value. For example, on a continuing basis, the Company assesses the reasonableness of individual security values received from pricing sources that vary from certain thresholds. Historically, the control processes have not resulted in adjustments to the valuations provided by pricing sources. The Company s fixed maturity securities portfolio is primarily publicly traded, which allows for a high percentage of the portfolio to be priced through pricing services. Approximately 93% of the portfolio was priced through pricing services or index priced as of September 30, 2009. The remainder of the portfolio was priced by broker-dealers, and these inputs were generally Level 2. There were no significant changes to the valuation process during the first nine months of 2009.

Fair values of equity securities have been determined by the Company from observable market quotations, when available. Private placement securities and equity securities where a public quotation is not available are valued by using non-binding broker quotes or through the use of internal models or analysis. These inputs are based on assumptions deemed appropriate given the circumstances and are believed to be consistent with what other market participants would use when pricing such securities.

### Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Investments

The Company s methodology of assessing other-than-temporary impairments is based on security-specific facts and circumstances as of the date of the reporting period. Based on these facts, if the Company has the intent to sell the debt security, or if it is more likely than not the Company will be required to sell the debt security before the anticipated recovery in fair value or if management does not expect to recover the entire cost basis of the debt security, an other-than-temporary impairment is considered to have occurred. For equity securities, if the Company does not have the ability and intent to hold the security for the recovery of cost within a reasonable period of time, an other-than-temporary impairment is considered to have occurred. As a general rule, if the fair value of a debt security has fallen below 80% of book value, this security will be reviewed for an other-than-temporary impairment. Also as a general rule, if the fair value of an equity security has declined below cost, this security will be reviewed for an other-than-temporary impairment including an assessment of whether recovery in fair value is likely to occur within a reasonable period of time. Additionally, if events become known that call into question whether the security issuer has the ability to honor its contractual commitments, whether or not such security has been trading above an 80% fair value to cost relationship, such security holding will be evaluated to determine whether or not such security has suffered an other-than-temporary decline in value.

The Company reviews the fair value of all investments in its portfolio on a monthly basis to assess whether an other-than-temporary decline in value has occurred. These reviews, in conjunction with the Company s investment managers monthly credit reports and relevant factors such as (1) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, (2) the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than amortized cost for fixed maturity securities or cost for equity securities, (3) for debt securities, the Company s intent to sell a

Table of Contents

51

security or whether it is more likely than not the Company will be required to sell the security before the anticipated recovery in fair value or maturity; and for equity securities, the Company s ability and intent to hold the security for the recovery of cost within a reasonable period of time, (4) the stock price trend of the issuer, (5) the market leadership position of the issuer, (6) the debt ratings of the issuer, (7) the cash flows of the issuer or the underlying cash flows for asset-backed securities and (8) a near-term recovery period for equity securities, are all considered in the impairment assessment. A write-down of an investment is recorded when a decline in the fair value of that investment is deemed to be other-than-temporary, with a realized investment loss charged to income for the period for all equity securities and for credit related losses associated with impaired debt securities. The amount of the total other-than-temporary impairment related to other factors for debt securities is recognized in other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes.

With respect to fixed income securities involving securitized financial assets primarily asset backed and commercial mortgage-backed securities in the Company s portfolio all fair values are determined by observable inputs. In addition, the securitized financial asset securities underlying collateral cash flows are stress tested to determine if there has been any adverse change in the expected cash flows.

A decline in fair value below amortized cost is not assumed to be other-than-temporary for fixed maturity investments with unrealized losses due to spread widening, market illiquidity or changes in interest rates where there exists a reasonable expectation based on the Company s consideration of all objective information available that the Company will recover the entire cost basis of the security and the Company does not have the intent to sell the investment before maturity or a market recovery is realized and it is more likely than not the Company will not be required to sell the investment. An other-than-temporary impairment loss will be recognized based upon all relevant facts and circumstances for each investment, as appropriate.

#### Goodwill

FASB ASC Topic 350, Intangibles Goodwill and Other, requires that goodwill balances be reviewed for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events occur or circumstances change that would indicate that a triggering event, as defined in FASB ASC Topic 350, has occurred. A reporting unit is defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment. The Company s reporting units, for which goodwill has been allocated, are equivalent to the Company s operating segments.

The goodwill impairment test follows a two-step process as defined in FASB ASC Topic 350. In the first step, the fair value of a reporting unit is compared to its carrying value. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step of the impairment test is performed for purposes of measuring the impairment. In the second step, the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit to determine an implied goodwill value. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied goodwill value, an impairment loss would be recognized in an amount equal to that excess, and the charge could have a material adverse effect on the Company s results of operations and financial position.

38

Management s determination of the fair value of each reporting unit incorporates multiple inputs including discounted cash flow calculations, the level of the Company s own share price and assumptions that market participants would make in valuing the reporting unit. Other assumptions include levels of economic capital, future business growth, earnings projections, assets under management for reporting units and the discount rate utilized.

The Company completed its annual goodwill assessment for the individual reporting units as of December 31, 2008. The conclusion reached as a result of the annual goodwill impairment testing was that the fair value of each reporting unit, for which goodwill had been allocated, was in excess of the respective reporting unit s carrying value, and therefore determined not to be impaired.

As part of the Company s December 31, 2008 goodwill analysis, the Company compared the fair value of the aggregated reporting units to the market capitalization of the Company using the December 31, 2008 common stock price. The difference between the aggregated fair value of the reporting units and the market capitalization of the Company was attributed to transaction premium. The amount of the transaction premium was determined to be reasonable based on recent insurance transactions and specific facts and circumstances related to the Company.

There were no events or material changes in circumstances during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 that indicated that a triggering event had occurred. While the financial markets showed improvement during the second and third quarters of 2009, if adverse market conditions persist in the future, in particular if the Company s share price remains below book value per share, or if the Company s actions to limit risk associated with its products or investments causes a significant change in any one reporting unit s fair value, subsequent reviews of goodwill could result in an impairment.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs for Annuity and Interest-sensitive Life Products

Policy acquisition costs, consisting of commissions, policy issuance and other costs, which vary with and are primarily related to the production of business, are capitalized and amortized on a basis consistent with the type of insurance coverage. For all investment (annuity) contracts, acquisition costs are amortized over 20 years in proportion to estimated gross profits. Capitalized acquisition costs for interest-sensitive life contracts are also amortized over 20 years in proportion to estimated gross profits.

The most significant assumptions that are involved in the estimation of annuity gross profits include interest rate spreads, future financial market performance, business surrender/lapse rates, expenses and the impact of realized investment gains and losses. For the variable deposit portion of the annuity segment, the Company amortizes policy acquisition costs utilizing a future financial market performance assumption of a 10% reversion to the mean approach with a 200 basis point corridor around the mean during the reversion period, representing a cap and a floor on the Company s long-term assumption. The Company s practice with regard to returns on separate accounts assumes that long-term appreciation in equity markets is not changed by short-term market fluctuations, but is only changed when sustained interim deviations are experienced. The Company monitors these changes and only changes the assumption when its long-term expectation changes. The effect of an increase/(decrease) by 100 basis points in the assumed future rate of return is reasonably likely to result in a decrease/(increase) in the deferred policy acquisition costs amortization

expense of approximately \$1 million. At September 30, 2009, the ratio of capitalized annuity policy acquisition costs to the total annuity accumulated cash value was approximately 4%.

In the event actual experience differs significantly from assumptions or assumptions are significantly revised, the Company may be required to record a material charge or credit to amortization expense for the period in which the adjustment is made. As noted above, there are key assumptions involved in the valuation of capitalized policy acquisition costs. In terms of the sensitivity of this amortization to two of the more significant assumptions, assuming all other assumptions are met, (1) a 10 basis point deviation in the annual targeted interest rate spread assumption would currently impact amortization between \$0.10 million and \$0.20 million and (2) a 1% deviation from the targeted financial market performance for the underlying mutual funds of the Company s variable annuities would currently impact amortization between \$0.15 million and \$0.25 million. These results may change depending on the magnitude and direction of the deviations but represent a range of reasonably likely experience for the noted assumptions. Detailed discussion of the impact of adjustments to the amortization of capitalized acquisition costs is included in Results of Operations Amortization of Policy Acquisition Expenses .

### Deferred Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent the tax effect of the differences between the financial statement carrying value of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes , the Company evaluates deferred tax assets periodically to determine if they are realizable. Factors in the determination include the performance of the business including the ability to generate capital gains from a variety of sources and tax planning strategies. If, based on available information, it is more likely than not that the deferred income tax asset will not be realized, then a valuation allowance must be established with a corresponding charge to net income. Charges to establish a valuation allowance could have a material adverse effect on the Company s results of operations and financial position.

Liabilities for Property and Casualty Claims and Claim Settlement Expenses

Underwriting results of the property and casualty segment are significantly influenced by estimates of the Company s ultimate liability for insured events. There is a high degree of uncertainty inherent in the estimates of ultimate losses underlying the liability for unpaid claims and claim settlement expenses. This inherent uncertainty is particularly significant for liability-related exposures due to the extended period, often many years, that transpires between a loss event, receipt of related claims data from policyholders and ultimate settlement of the claim. Reserves for property and casualty claims include provisions for payments to be made on reported claims ( case reserves ), claims incurred but not yet reported ( IBNR ) and associated settlement expenses (together, loss reserves ). The process by which these reserves are established requires reliance upon estimates based on known facts and on interpretations of circumstances, including the Company s experience with similar cases and historical trends involving claim payments and related patterns, pending levels of unpaid claims and product mix, as well as other factors including court decisions, economic conditions and public attitudes.

40

Reserves are reestimated quarterly. Changes to reserves are recorded in the period in which development factor changes result in reserve reestimates. Detailed discussion of the process utilized to estimate loss reserves, risk factors considered and the impact of adjustments recorded during recent years is included in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Note 4 Property and Casualty Unpaid Claims and Claim Expenses of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008. Due to the nature of the Company s personal lines business, the Company has no exposure to claims for toxic waste cleanup, other environmental remediation or asbestos-related illnesses other than claims under homeowners insurance policies for environmentally related items such as mold.

Based on the Company s products and coverages, historical experience, and modeling of various actuarial methodologies used to develop reserve estimates, the Company estimates that the potential variability of the property and casualty loss reserves within a reasonable probability of other possible outcomes may be approximately plus or minus 6%, which equates to plus or minus approximately \$12 million of net income based on reserves as of September 30, 2009. Although this evaluation reflects the most likely outcomes, it is possible the final outcome may fall below or above these estimates.

There are a number of assumptions involved in the determination of the Company's property and casualty loss reserves. Among the key factors affecting recorded loss reserves for both long-tail and short-tail related coverages, claim severity and claim frequency are of particular significance. Management estimates that a 2% change in claim severity or claim frequency for the most recent 36-month period is a reasonably likely scenario based on recent experience and would result in a change in the estimated loss reserves of between \$6.0 million and \$10.0 million for long-tail liability related exposures (automobile liability coverages) and between \$3.0 million and \$4.0 million for short-tail liability related exposures (homeowners and automobile physical damage coverages). Actual results may differ, depending on the magnitude and direction of the deviation.

The Company s loss and loss adjustment expense actuarial analysis is discussed with management. As part of this discussion, the indicated point estimate of the IBNR loss reserve by line of business (coverage) is reviewed. The Company actuaries also discuss any indicated changes to the underlying assumptions used to calculate the indicated point estimate. Review of the variance between the indicated reserves from these changes in assumptions and the previously carried reserves takes place. After discussion of these analyses and all relevant risk factors, management determines whether the reserve balances require adjustment. The Company s best estimate of loss reserves may change depending on a revision in the underlying assumptions.

The Company s liabilities for property and casualty unpaid claims and claim settlement expenses were as follows:

	Se	<b>September 30, 2009</b>			<b>December 31, 2008</b>			
	Case	<b>IBNR</b>		Case	<b>IBNR</b>			
	Reserves	Reserves	Total (1)	Reserves	Reserves	Total (1)		
Automobile liability	\$75.5	\$ 131.0	\$ 206.5	\$ 70.3	\$ 129.5	\$ 199.8		
Automobile other	4.2	2.1	6.3	6.1	1.6	7.7		
Homeowners	14.4	51.4	65.8	15.1	46.6	61.7		
All other	3.6	21.7	25.3	3.9	24.7	28.6		
Total	\$ 97.7	\$ 206.2	\$ 303.9	\$ 95.4	\$ 202.4	\$ 297.8		

### (1) These amounts are gross, before reduction for ceded reinsurance reserves.

The facts and circumstances leading to the Company s reestimate of reserves relate to revisions of the development factors used to predict how losses are likely to develop from the end of a reporting period until all claims have been paid. Reestimates occur because actual loss amounts are different than those predicted by the estimated development factors used in prior reserve estimates. At September 30, 2009, the impact of a reserve reestimation resulting in a 1% increase in net reserves would be a decrease of approximately \$2 million in net income. A reserve reestimation resulting in a 1% decrease in net reserves would increase net income by approximately \$2 million.

Favorable prior years reserve reestimates increased net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 by approximately \$5.4 million, primarily the result of favorable frequency and severity trends in voluntary automobile loss and loss adjustment expense emergence for accident years 2006 and prior. The lower than expected claims and expense emergence and resultant lower expected loss ratios caused the Company to lower its reserve estimate.

Information regarding the Company s property and casualty claims and claims settlement expense reserve development table as of December 31, 2008 is located in Business Property and Casualty Segment Property and Casualty Reserves of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008. Information regarding property and casualty reserve reestimates for each of the three years ended December 31, 2008 is located in Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2008 Benefits, Claims and Settlement Expenses of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Liabilities for Future Policy Benefits

Liabilities for future benefits on life and annuity policies are established in amounts adequate to meet the estimated future obligations on policies in force. Liabilities for future policy benefits on certain life insurance policies are computed using the net level premium method and are based on assumptions as to future investment yield, mortality and withdrawals. Mortality and withdrawal assumptions for all policies have been based on actuarial tables which are consistent with the Company s own experience. In the event actual experience is worse than the assumptions, additional reserves may be required. This would result in a charge to income for the period in which the increase in reserves occurred. Liabilities for future benefits on annuity contracts and certain long-duration life insurance contracts are carried at accumulated policyholder values without reduction for potential surrender or withdrawal charges.

Valuation of Assets and Liabilities Related to the Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Effective April 1, 2002, participants stopped accruing benefits under the defined benefit pension plan but continue to retain the benefits they had accrued to that date.

The Company s cost estimates for its defined benefit pension plan are determined annually based on assumptions which include the discount rate, expected return on plan assets, anticipated retirement rate and estimated lump sum distributions. A discount rate of 6.27% was used by the Company for estimating accumulated benefits under the plan at December 31, 2008, which was based on the average yield for long-term, high grade securities having maturities generally consistent with the defined benefit pension payout period. To set its discount rate, the Company looks to leading indicators, including the Citigroup Pension Discount Curve. The expected annual return on plan assets assumed by the Company at December 31, 2008 was 7.5%. The assumption for the long-term rate of return on plan assets was determined by considering actual investment experience during the lifetime of the plan, balanced with reasonable expectations of future growth considering the various classes of assets and percentage allocation for each asset class. Management believes that it has adopted reasonable assumptions for investment returns, discount rates and other key factors used in the estimation of pension costs and asset values.

To the extent that actual experience differs from the Company s assumptions, subsequent adjustments may be required, with the effects of those adjustments charged or credited to income and/or shareholders equity for the period in which the adjustments are made. Generally, a change of 50 basis points in the discount rate would inversely impact pension expense and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) by approximately \$0.1 million and \$1.0 million, respectively. In addition, for every \$1 million increase (decrease) in the value of pension plan assets, there is a comparable increase (decrease) in AOCI.

43

# **Results of Operations**

Insurance Premiums and Contract Charges

### **Insurance Premiums Written and Contract Deposits**

(Includes annuity and life contract deposits)

	Nine Months Ended September 30,		Chang Prior	e From Year
	2009	2008	Percent	Amount
Property & casualty				
Automobile and property (voluntary)	\$ 414.2	\$ 407.4	1.7%	\$ 6.8
Involuntary and other property & casualty	2.5	1.4	78.6%	1.1
Total property & casualty	416.7	408.8	1.9%	7.9
Annuity deposits	268.1	237.8	12.7%	30.3
Life	72.9	74.4	-2.0%	(1.5)
Total	\$ 757.7	\$ 721.0	5.1%	\$ 36.7

# **Insurance Premiums and Contract Charges Earned**

(Excludes annuity and life contract deposits)

	Nine Months Ended September 30,		Change Fro Prior Yea			
	2009	2009 2008		Amount		
Property & casualty						
Automobile and property (voluntary)	\$ 406.8	\$ 401.7	1.3%	\$	5.1	
Involuntary and other property & casualty	1.6	0.3	N.M.		1.3	
Total property & casualty	408.4	402.0	1.6%		6.4	
Annuity	10.2	13.8	-26.1%		(3.6)	
Life	73.2	73.9	-0.9%		(0.7)	
Total	\$ 491.8	\$ 489.7	0.4%	\$	2.1	

### N.M. Not meaningful.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company s premiums written and contract deposits increased 8.1% and 5.1%, respectively, compared to the prior year, primarily reflecting increases in annuity single

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

premium and rollover deposit receipts in the current periods. Voluntary property and casualty business represents policies sold through the Company s marketing organization and issued under the Company s underwriting guidelines. Involuntary property and casualty business consists of allocations of business from state mandatory insurance facilities and assigned risk business.

The Company s dedicated agency force totaled 694 at September 30, 2009, reflecting an increase of 0.6% compared to 690 agents at September 30, 2008 and an increase of 3.6% compared to 670 at December 31, 2008. In addition to agents, the Company s total points of distribution include licensed producers who work with the agents. At September 30, 2009, there were 519 licensed producers, compared to 360 at September 30, 2008 and 394 at December 31, 2008. Including these licensed producers, the Company s total points of distribution increased to 1,213 at September 30, 2009, a growth of 15.5% compared to 12 months earlier. At the time of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, management anticipates that over the next several quarters the agent count will increase modestly during the Company s continued transition to its Agency Business Model and Exclusive Agent agreement,

with a further increase in total points of distribution resulting from the growing number of licensed producers supporting agents who adopt the new models.

In 2006, the Company began the transition from a single-person agent operation to its Agency Business Model, with agents in outside offices with support personnel and licensed producers, designed to remove capacity constraints and increase productivity. Building on the foundation of the Agency Business Model, in the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company introduced its Exclusive Agent agreement which is designed to place agents in the position to become business owners and invest their own capital to grow their agencies. By January 1, 2009, the first 71 individuals migrated from being employee agents to functioning as independent Exclusive Agents. By September 30, 2009, 208 individuals were appointed as Exclusive Agents, including both individuals migrating from employee agent status and individuals newly appointed to market the Company s products. See additional description in Business Corporate Strategy and Marketing Dedicated Agency Force of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

For the Company, as well as other personal lines property and casualty companies, new business levels have been impacted by the economy and the overall decreases in automobile and home sales. For the first nine months of 2009, total new automobile sales units were 5.5% less than the prior year, including a 3.7% decrease in true new automobile sales units. New homeowners sales units decreased 3.9% compared to the first nine months of 2008. Annuity new business increased 37.8% compared to the first nine months of 2008, reflecting new business growth in the Company s core scheduled deposit business (on an annualized basis at the time of sale, compared to the reporting of new contract deposits which are recorded when cash is received) of 38.5% coupled with a 37.7% increase in single premium and rollover deposits, including both Horace Mann and partner company products. Growth in annuity new business has been supported by the Company s approved 403(b) payroll reduction capabilities. The Company has payroll slots in approximately one-third of the 15,500 public school districts in the United States. Sales of new life insurance products have been adversely impacted by current economic conditions industry wide. In spite of these conditions, the Company s introduction of a new educator-focused portfolio of term and whole life products in the third quarter of 2009 led to a 1.5% increase in life new business for the nine months compared to year-to-date 2008. For the first nine months of 2009, total new business sales increased 26.4% compared to a year earlier. In total, dedicated agent sales for the first nine months of 2009 increased 13.6% compared to the prior year. Average overall productivity per agent increased compared to the first nine months of 2008, reflecting slight improvements in all lines of business. Average agent productivity is measured as new sales premiums or new business units from the dedicated agent force per the average number of dedicated agents for the period.

Total voluntary automobile and homeowners premium written increased 1.7%, or \$6.8 million, in the first nine months of 2009, including a \$2.0 million increase in catastrophe reinsurance premiums for 2009. The automobile and homeowners average written premium per policy each increased compared to the prior year, with the change in average premium for both lines moderated by the improved quality of the books of business. For the first nine months of 2009, approved rate increases for the Company s automobile and homeowners business were minimal, but slightly more than rate actions in the prior year. At September 30, 2009, there were 529,000 voluntary automobile and 261,000 homeowners policies in force, for a total of 790,000 policies, compared to a total of 798,000 policies at both December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2008.

Based on policies in force, the voluntary automobile 6-month retention rate for new and renewal policies was 91.7% at September 30, 2009 compared to 91.5% at September 30, 2008. The property 12-month new and renewal policy retention rate was 89.5% at September, 2009 compared to 88.7% a year earlier.

Voluntary automobile premium written increased 1.5% (\$4.1 million) compared to the first nine months of 2008. This premium growth was driven by a modest increase in average written premium per policy. Average earned premium per policy also increased modestly. Automobile policies in force at September 30, 2009 decreased 6,000 compared to both December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2008. The number of educator policies increased throughout the periods.

Voluntary homeowners premium written increased 2.0% (\$2.7 million) compared to the first nine months of 2008 including the higher amount of catastrophe reinsurance premiums noted above. Homeowners average written and earned premium per policy each increased 4% compared to a year earlier. Homeowners policies in force at September 30, 2009 decreased 2,000 compared to both December 31, 2008 and a year earlier, as growth in the number of educator policies was offset by expected reductions, primarily in non-educator policies, due to the Company s risk mitigation programs, including actions in catastrophe-prone coastal areas. The Company continues to evaluate and implement actions to further mitigate its risk exposure in hurricane-prone areas. Such actions could include, but are not limited to, non-renewal of homeowners policies, restricted agent geographic placement, limitations on agent new business sales, further tightening of underwriting standards and increased utilization of third-party vendor marketing alliances.

During the first nine months of 2009, ongoing and recurring proceedings occurred in North Carolina challenging private passenger automobile rates. Notification received by the Company indicates that the proceedings are complete, resulting in a rate increase for the Company that is slightly lower than the rate the Company submitted. For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company escrowed \$0.4 million of premiums received related to these proceedings which will be refunded to policyholders.

Annuity deposits received increased 12.7% for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to the same period in 2008. In the first nine months of 2009, scheduled annuity deposits decreased 4.7% compared to the prior year while single premium and rollover deposits increased 44.3%. In the first nine months of 2009, new deposits to variable accounts decreased 19.6%, or \$20.1 million, and new deposits to fixed accounts increased 37.3%, or \$50.4 million, compared to the prior year. Management continues to see benefits of becoming a stronger presence in the educator annuity market subsequent to the implementation of new Internal Revenue Service Section 403(b) regulations, effective January 1, 2009. Also, management believes that educators view the Company as having a recognized brand and providing personalized advice through agents with a local presence, leading to new business growth and strong annuity business persistency. In addition to external contractholder deposits, annuity new deposits include contributions and transfers by the Company s employees in the Company s 401(k) group annuity contract.

The Company utilizes a nationwide network of independent agents who comprise a supplemental distribution channel for the Company s 403(b) tax-qualified annuity products. The independent agent distribution channel included 826 authorized agents at September 30, 2009. During the first nine months of 2009, this channel generated \$42.6 million in annualized new annuity sales for the Company compared to \$15.5 million for the first nine months of 2008, reflecting increases in single and rollover deposit business as well as scheduled deposit business.

Total annuity accumulated cash value of \$3.6 billion at September 30, 2009 increased 1.8% compared to a year earlier, as the increase from new deposits received and favorable retention were partially offset by unfavorable financial market performance over the 12 months. At September 30, 2009, the number of annuity contracts outstanding of 177,000 increased 3.5%, or 6,000 contracts, compared to December 31, 2008 and increased 5.4%, or 9,000 contracts, compared to September 30, 2008.

Variable annuity accumulated balances were 8.9% lower at September 30, 2009 than at September 30, 2008, primarily reflecting financial market performance—which improved somewhat during the second and third quarters of 2009—and accordingly, annuity segment contract charges earned decreased 26.1%, or \$3.6 million, compared to the first nine months of 2008.

Life segment premiums and contract deposits decreased 2.0% compared to the first nine months of 2008. The ordinary life insurance in force lapse ratio was 5.5% for both the 12 months ended September 30, 2009 and the 12 months ended September 30, 2008.

#### Net Investment Income

For the three months ended September 30, 2009, pretax investment income of \$62.5 million increased 8.1%, or \$4.7 million, (8.4%, or \$3.3 million, after tax) compared to the same period in 2008. Pretax investment income of \$181.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 increased 5.3%, or \$9.2 million, (5.2%, or \$6.1 million, after tax) compared to the prior year. The increase primarily reflected growth in the size of the average investment portfolio on an amortized cost basis. Average invested assets (excluding securities lending collateral) increased 5.3% over the 12 months ended September 30, 2009. The average pretax yield on the investment portfolio was 5.54% (3.76% after tax) for the first nine months of 2009, compared to a pretax yield of 5.53% (3.76% after tax) a year earlier. In 2009, the Company s investment portfolio yield has reflected the adverse impact of the elevated level of short-term investments in the portfolio related to the Company s opportunistic capital gains programs during the first nine months of the year. Management anticipates reinvesting the majority of these funds in intermediate and long term bonds by December 31, 2009.

47

Net Realized Investment Gains and Losses

Net realized investment gains (pretax) were \$11.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to net realized investment losses of \$45.2 million in the same period in the prior year. For the nine months, net realized investment gains (pretax) were \$21.7 million in 2009 compared to net realized investment losses of \$55.7 million in the prior year. The net gains and losses in all periods were realized from recording of impairment charges and ongoing investment portfolio management activity. In addition, the first nine months of 2008 included \$1.1 million of litigation proceeds on previously impaired WorldCom, Inc. debt securities, with no similar amounts related to impaired securities received in the current period.

In the third quarter of 2009, pretax net realized investment gains of \$11.5 million included (1) \$1.3 million of impairment write-downs, attributable to three issuers, and (2) \$0.5 million of realized impairment losses on securities that were disposed of during the quarter. The impairment amounts were more than offset by \$13.3 million of realized gains on other security disposals.

In the second quarter of 2009, pretax net realized investment gains were \$11.0 million, which included (1) \$3.4 million of credit related impairment write-downs, primarily related to a single collateralized debt obligation security, (2) \$0.6 million of impairment write-downs on equity securities and securities the Company intended to sell, and (3) \$4.1 million of realized losses on securities that were disposed of during the quarter, primarily financial institution and telecommunications sector securities. The impairment amounts were largely offset by \$6.1 million of realized gains on previously impaired securities that were disposed of during the quarter, primarily financial sector securities. In addition, the second quarter reflected \$13.0 million of realized gains on other security disposals.

In the first quarter of 2009, pretax net realized investment losses were \$0.8 million, including \$15.8 million of impairment charges. These charges were comprised of \$13.4 million of impairment write-downs, primarily below investment grade perpetual preferred stocks, and \$2.4 million of impairments on securities that the Company no longer intended to hold until the value fully recovered, primarily high-yield bonds. In addition, the Company recorded \$1.9 million of realized losses on securities that were disposed of during the quarter, primarily high-yield investments. These losses were largely offset by \$16.9 million of realized gains on security disposals.

The third quarter 2008 write-downs of \$33.4 million included approximately \$23.7 million related to fixed maturity security and preferred stock impairments for which the issuer s ability to pay future interest and principal based upon contractual terms was compromised namely, Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc., the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac), and American International Group, Inc. The remaining amount of write-downs primarily of financial institution securities and high yield bonds was primarily attributable to the Company no longer having the intent to hold the securities for a period of time necessary to recover the decline in value. In addition, net realized losses in the third quarter of 2008 included \$14.2 million of realized impairment losses primarily on financial institution securities that were disposed of during the quarter.

48

The second quarter 2008 write-downs of \$11.2 million were primarily related to 2 collateralized debt obligation securities and 5 equity securities, including 4 financial industry preferred stock issues. In addition, net realized losses in the second quarter of 2008 included \$0.3 million of realized impairment losses on securities that were disposed of during the period.

In the first quarter 2008, impairment write-downs of \$2.7 million were recorded, primarily related to certain below investment grade fixed maturity securities, with \$2.3 million of the write-downs attributable to 6 securities of telecommunications and telecommunications-related media issuers, which at March 31, 2008 the Company no longer intended to hold until the value fully recovered. In addition to write-downs, net realized losses in the first quarter of 2008 included \$3.9 million of realized other-than-temporary impairment losses, primarily on financial institution and below investment grade fixed maturity securities that were disposed of during the quarter.

The Company, from time to time, sells invested assets subsequent to the balance sheet date that were considered temporarily impaired at the balance sheet date. Such sales are generally due to events occurring subsequent to the balance sheet date that result in a change in the Company s intent to sell an invested asset. The types of events that may result in a sale include significant changes in the economic facts and circumstances related to the invested asset, significant unforeseen changes in liquidity needs, or changes in the Company s investment strategy.

There were securities priced below 80% of book value at September 30, 2009 that were not impaired. While the credit markets and credit spreads continued to improve across virtually all asset classes in the third quarter of 2009 resulting in significant improvement in the Company s gross unrealized loss position, the persisting uncertainty and concern over prolonged economic weakness continue to have an adverse effect on the liquidity and fair value of certain asset classes and securities. With respect to fixed income securities involving securitized financial assets, the underlying collateral cash flows were stress tested to determine there was no adverse change in the expected cash flows. Management views the decrease in value of all of these securities as temporary. For debt securities, management does not have the intent to sell the securities and it is not more likely than not the Company will be required to sell the securities before the anticipated recovery in fair value or maturity. In addition, management expects to recover the entire cost basis of the debt securities. For equity securities, the Company has the ability and intent to hold the securities for the recovery of cost within a reasonable period of time.

The table below presents the Company s fixed maturity securities and equity securities portfolios as of September 30, 2009 by major asset class, including the ten largest sectors of the Company s corporate bond holdings (based on fair value) and the sectors of the equity securities holdings. Compared to December 31, 2008, credit spreads improved across virtually all asset classes in 2009, with the Company s investment grade corporate bond portfolio showing the most significant improvement in net unrealized gains. Some of the more highly stressed asset classes also showed improvement during 2009, including the Company s commercial mortgage-backed securities portfolio and its financial institution bond and preferred stock holdings. However, the persisting uncertainty and resultant volatility in the financial markets continued to have an adverse effect on the fair value of investments. The Company s commercial mortgage-backed securities continue to be the most impacted.

Fixed Maturity Securities	Number of Issuers	Fair Value	Amortized Cost or Cost	Pretax Unrealized Gain(Loss)	
Corporate bonds				J(2002)	
Utilities	48	\$ 301.3	\$ 280.8	\$ 20.5	
Banking and Finance	47	279.6	278.2	1.4	
Energy	43	224.6	210.1	14.5	
Health Care	36	141.3	133.2	8.1	
Insurance	25	119.1	120.5	(1.4)	
Telecommunications	22	110.9	103.4	7.5	
Broadcasting and Media	14	65.4	62.6	2.8	
Transportation	15	62.3	60.9	1.4	
Metal and Mining	13	61.5	63.8	(2.3)	
Natural Gas	12	57.3	54.2	3.1	
All Other Corporates (1)	141	452.5	433.9	18.6	
Total corporate bonds	416	1,875.8	1,801.6	74.2	
Mortgage-backed securities					
U.S. government and federally sponsored agencies	325	475.1	451.2	23.9	
Commercial	127	258.6	330.3	(71.7)	
Other	17	18.4	18.3	0.1	
Municipal bonds	260	898.8	842.7	56.1	
Government bonds					
U.S.	6	286.6	284.6	2.0	
Foreign	6	27.0	24.0	3.0	
Collateralized debt obligations (2)	8	10.2	13.5	(3.3)	
Asset-backed securities	54	163.0	159.0	4.0	
Total fixed maturity securities	1,219	\$ 4,013.5	\$ 3,925.2	\$ 88.3	
Equity Securities					
Non-redeemable preferred stocks					
Banking and Finance	19	\$ 40.7	\$ 44.6	\$ (3.9)	
Insurance	8	7.1	7.9	(0.8)	
Real Estate	5	5.8	5.8	*	
Utilities	4	4.8	5.0	(0.2)	
Energy	1	0.6	0.6	*	
U.S. federally sponsored agencies	2	0.2	*	0.2	
Common stocks					
Cable	3	1.2	0.9	0.3	
Technology and other	2	0.2	*	0.2	
Total equity securities	44	\$ 60.6	\$ 64.8	\$ (4.2)	

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Total 1,263 \$4,074.1 \$ 3,990.0 \$ 84.1

- Less than \$0.1 million.
- (1) The All Other Corporates category contains 19 additional industry classifications. Food and beverage, technology, miscellaneous, industrial, real estate and retail represented \$263.5 million of fair value at September 30, 2009, with the remaining 13 classifications each representing less than \$33 million.
- (2) Based on fair value, 60.8% of the collateralized debt obligation securities were rated investment grade by Standard and Poor s Corporation (S&P) and/or Moody s Investors Service, Inc. (Moody s) at September 30, 2009.

50

At September 30, 2009, the Company s diversified fixed maturity securities portfolio consisted of 1,480 investment positions, issued by 1,219 entities, and totaled approximately \$4.0 billion in fair value. This portfolio was 94.5% investment grade, based on fair value, with an average quality rating of A+.

At September 30, 2009, the Company had limited exposure to subprime and Alt-A mortgage loans. The Company had three subprime securities with a fair value of \$2.2 million and an unrealized loss of \$0.5 million at September 30, 2009. The Alt-A mortgage loan exposure was comprised of four securities with a total fair value of approximately \$2.0 million, of which \$0.5 million was vintage year 2004 and prior, with an unrealized loss of approximately \$0.4 million at September 30, 2009.

At September 30, 2009, the Company had \$258.6 million fair value in commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS), primarily in the annuity and life portfolios, with a net unrealized loss of \$71.7 million. CMBS spreads remained wide as of September 30, 2009, particularly for the more recent vintages with lower ratings. The Company's CMBS portfolio is 96% investment grade, with an overall credit rating of AA, and is well diversified by property type, geography and sponsor. Based on fair value, 21% (16% based on amortized cost) of these holdings are comprised of multi-family housing projects that are directly backed by the Government National Mortgage Association. Another 17% (15% amortized cost) is made up of fully amortizing loans to finance military housing, where rental payments are appropriated by the U.S. government. Approximately 11% (8% amortized cost) of the CMBS portfolio is represented by cell tower revenue and timberland securitizations, which offer further diversification. The traditional conduit fusion portion of the portfolio is 49% (58% amortized cost) of the Company's CMBS holdings, with 68% (71% amortized cost) of those securities in the more seasoned 1997 through 2005 vintages. Of the remaining 2006 to 2008 vintage loans, approximately 51% (40% amortized cost) are AAA rated.

The table below presents rating and vintage year information for the Company s CMBS portfolio.

	<b>September 30, 2009</b>			<b>December 31, 2008</b>			
	Amortized			Amortized			
	Cost	Fair Value		Cost	Fai	ir Value	
Rating							
AAA	\$ 129.3	\$	124.8	\$ 165.5	\$	133.4	
AA	71.9		61.0	74.8		57.4	
A	83.2		47.5	89.3		30.4	
BBB	20.3		14.3	0.6		0.5	
BB and below	25.6		11.0	-		-	
Total	\$ 330.3	\$	258.6	\$ 330.2	\$	221.7	
Vintage							
2003 and prior	\$ 21.2	\$	19.7	\$ 30.1	\$	25.9	
2004	22.7		17.2	23.1		14.5	
2005	112.3		65.3	129.6		58.4	
2006	62.4		47.3	54.5		32.7	
2007	41.5		41.3	28.6		27.0	
2008	44.4		42.2	64.3		63.2	
2009	25.8		25.6	-		-	
Total	\$ 330.3	\$	258.6	\$ 330.2	\$	221.7	

51

At September 30, 2009, the Company had \$320.3 million fair value in financial institution bonds and preferred stocks with a net unrealized loss of \$2.5 million. The Company s holdings in this sector are primarily large, well recognized institutions, which have been broadly supported by government intervention and credit enhancement programs.

At September 30, 2009, the Company had \$898.8 million fair value invested in municipal bonds with a net unrealized gain of \$56.1 million. Approximately 70% of the municipal bonds are tax-exempt and 71% are revenue bonds. The overall credit quality of these securities was AA, with approximately 46% of the value insured at September 30, 2009. This represents approximately 9% of the Company s total investment portfolio that is guaranteed by the mono-line credit insurers. When selecting securities, the Company focuses primarily on the quality of the underlying security and does not place significant reliance on the additional insurance benefit. Excluding the effect of insurance, the credit quality of the underlying municipal bond portfolio was AA at September 30, 2009.

At September 30, 2009, the fixed maturity securities and equity securities portfolio had \$135.4 million pretax of gross unrealized losses related to 416 positions. The following table provides information regarding all fixed maturity securities and equity securities that had an unrealized loss at September 30, 2009, including the length of time that the securities continuously have been in an unrealized loss position.

# **Investment Positions With Unrealized Losses Segmented by**

# **Quality and Period of Continuous Unrealized Loss**

### As of September 30, 2009

Fixed Maturity Securities	Number of Positions	Fair Value	Amortized Cost or Cost		Pretax Unrealized Loss		
Investment grade							
3 Months or less	16	\$ 59.6	\$ 60.3	\$	(0.7)		
4 through 6 months	10	85.3	87.5		(2.2)		
7 through 9 months	13	28.6	32.2		(3.6)		
10 through 12 months	15	28.6	32.1		(3.5)		
13 through 24 months	132	262.3	297.7		(35.4)		
25 through 36 months	50	154.1	195.8		(41.7)		
37 through 48 months	2	9.6	9.8		(0.2)		
Greater than 48 months	4	15.7	17.5		(1.8)		
Total	242	\$ 643.8	\$ 732.9	\$	(89.1)		
Non-investment grade							
3 Months or less	4	\$ 3.0	\$ 3.1	\$	(0.1)		
4 through 6 months	1	1.3	1.3		*		
7 through 9 months	2	2.9	4.4		(1.5)		
10 through 12 months	2	1.1	1.2		(0.1)		
13 through 24 months	68	82.1	93.4		(11.3)		
25 through 36 months	43	57.6	81.5		(23.9)		
37 through 48 months	7	8.3	9.7		(1.4)		
Greater than 48 months	5	6.0	6.7		(0.7)		
Total	132	\$ 162.3	\$ 201.3	\$	(39.0)		
Not rated	-	-	-		-		
Total fixed maturity securities	374	\$ 806.1	\$ 934.2	\$	(128.1)		
Equity Securities (1)							
Investment grade							
3 Months or less	1	\$ 0.1	\$ 0.1		*		
4 through 6 months	1	1.2	1.2		*		
7 through 9 months	3	3.6	4.8	\$	(1.2)		
10 through 12 months	1	0.7	0.8		(0.1)		
13 through 24 months	24	21.0	25.3		(4.3)		
25 through 36 months	10	8.8	10.5		(1.7)		
Greater than 36 months	-	-	-		-		

Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Total	40	\$ 35.4	\$ 42.7	\$ (7.3)
Non-investment grade, all 13 through 24 months	1	\$ 0.6	\$ 0.6	*
Not rated, all 3 months or less	1	*	*	*
Total equity securities	42	\$ 36.0	\$ 43.3	\$ (7.3)
Total fixed maturity securities and equity securities	416	\$ 842.1	\$ 977.5	\$ (135.4)

<sup>\*</sup> Less than \$0.1 million.

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes nonredeemable (perpetual) preferred stocks and common stocks.

Of the investment positions (fixed maturity securities and equity securities) with unrealized losses, 87 were trading below 80% of book value at September 30, 2009 and the table below provides additional information regarding these securities. These positions were structured securities, investment grade bonds, preferred stock (both fixed maturity securities and equity securities in nature), and below investment grade bonds.

### Investment Positions With Fair Value Below 80% of Amortized Cost

### Segmented by Quality and Period of Continuous Valuation Below 80%

### As of September 30, 2009

Fixed Maturity Securities	Number of Positions	Fair Value	Amortized Cost or Cost		Pretax Unrealized Loss	
Investment grade						
3 Months or less	1	\$ 1.0	\$	1.3	\$	(0.3)
4 through 6 months	4	5.0		7.0		(2.0)
7 through 9 months	3	5.0		6.6		(1.6)
10 through 12 months	29	40.7		54.9		(14.2)
13 through 24 months	18	39.0		77.4		(38.4)
Greater than 24 months	-	-		-		-
Total	55	\$ 90.7	\$	147.2	\$	(56.5)
Non-investment grade						
3 Months or less	2	\$ 1.8	\$	2.4	\$	(0.6)
4 through 6 months	1	0.5		0.7		(0.2)
7 through 9 months	3	5.1		7.5		(2.4)
10 through 12 months	2	3.7		8.1		(4.4)
13 through 24 months	12	19.6		41.7		(22.1)
Greater than 24 months	-	-		-		-
Total	20	\$ 30.7	\$	60.4	\$	(29.7)
Not rated	-	-		-		-
Total fixed maturity securities	75	\$ 121.4	\$	207.6	\$	(86.2)
Equity Securities (1) Investment grade						
3 Months or less		_				
	-	-		-		-
4 through 6 months	- 1	\$ 2.6	\$	3.7	\$	(1.1)
7 through 9 months	1		\$		\$	(1.1)
10 through 12 months		1.1		1.5		(0.4)
13 through 24 months	10	6.9		10.2		(3.3)
Greater than 24 months	-	-		-		-
Non-investment grade	-	-		-		-
Not rated	-	-		-		-
Total equity securities	12	\$ 10.6	\$	15.4	\$	(4.8)

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Total fixed maturity securities and equity securities

87 \$ 132.0

\$ 223.0

\$ (91.0)

(1) Includes nonredeemable (perpetual) preferred stocks and common stocks.

54

The 87 securities with fair values below 80% of book value at September 30, 2009 represented approximately 3.2% of the Company s total investment portfolio at fair value. Approximately 2.1% of those securities have been below 80% of book value for three months or less as of September 30, 2009. Of the total securities trading below 80% of book value, 16 securities had fair values less than 50% of book value, representing 0.6% of the Company s total investment portfolio, with a pretax unrealized loss of \$45.3 million. Commercial mortgage-backed securities represented \$40.5 million of the pretax unrealized loss from securities with fair value less than 50% of book value at September 30, 2009.

While the credit markets and credit spreads continued to improve across virtually all asset classes in the third quarter of 2009 resulting in significant improvement in the Company's gross unrealized loss position, the persisting uncertainty and concern over prolonged economic weakness continue to have an adverse effect on the liquidity and fair value of certain asset classes and securities. The Company views the decrease in value of all of the securities with unrealized losses at September 30, 2009 which has been driven largely by spread widening, market illiquidity and changes in interest rates—as temporary. For debt securities, management does not have the intent to sell the securities and it is not more likely than not the Company will be required to sell the securities before the anticipated recovery in fair value or maturity. In addition, management expects to recover the entire cost basis of the debt securities. For equity securities, the Company has the ability and intent to hold the securities for the recovery of cost within a reasonable period of time. Therefore, no impairment of these securities was recorded at September 30, 2009. Future changes in circumstances related to these and other securities could require subsequent recognition of other-than-temporary impairment losses. Following revisions in September 2009 to further reduce issuer concentrations, the Company s investment guidelines generally limit single corporate issuer concentrations to 0.5% of invested assets for AAA or AAA rated securities, 0.35% of invested assets for A or BBB rated securities, and 0.2% invested assets for non-investment grade securities.

55

The following table provides information regarding the fixed maturity securities and equity securities that were trading below 80% of book value at December 31, 2008.

# Investment Positions With Fair Value Below 80% of Amortized Cost

# Segmented by Quality and Period of Continuous Valuation Below 80%

# As of December 31, 2008

Fixed Maturity Securities	Number of Positions	Fair Value	nortized st or Cost	Un	Pretax realized Loss
Investment grade					
3 Months or less	130	\$ 253.6	\$ 375.8	\$	(122.2)
4 through 6 months	42	72.5	127.3		(54.8)
7 through 9 months	13	12.8	45.6		(32.8)
10 through 12 months	4	7.5	26.0		(18.5)
Greater than 12 months	-	-	-		-
Total	189	\$ 346.4	\$ 574.7	\$	(228.3)
Non-investment grade					
3 Months or less	78	\$ 47.3	\$ 68.3	\$	(21.0)
4 through 6 months	11	5.5	9.8		(4.3)
7 through 9 months	3	4.0	7.6		(3.6)
10 through 12 months	1	0.5	0.9		(0.4)
Greater than 12 months	-	-	-		-
Total	93	\$ 57.3	\$ 86.6	\$	(29.3)
Not rated	-	-	-		-
Total fixed maturity securities	282	\$ 403.7	\$ 661.3	\$	(257.6)
Equity Securities (1)					
Investment grade					
3 Months or less	10	\$ 5.2	\$ 8.2	\$	(3.0)
4 through 6 months	31	23.3	40.0		(16.7)
7 through 9 months	5	0.8	2.2		(1.4)
10 through 12 months	1	0.8	1.9		(1.1)
Greater than 12 months	-	-	-		-
Non-investment grade,					
all 3 months or less	2	1.1	1.7		(0.6)
Not rated, all 3 months or less	3	0.1	0.1		*

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Total equity securities	52	\$ 31.3	\$ 54.1	\$ (22.8)
Total fixed maturity securities and equity securities	334	\$435.0	\$ 715.4	\$ (280.4)

<sup>\*</sup> Less than \$0.1 million.

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes nonredeemable (perpetual) preferred stocks and common stocks.

Benefits, Claims and Settlement Expenses

	- 1	Nine Months Ended September 30,		From Year
	2009	2008	Percent	Amount
Property and casualty	\$ 309.2	\$320.2	-3.4%	\$ (11.0)
Annuity	(0.7)	0.4	N.M.	(1.1)
Life	40.1	39.6	1.3%	0.5
Total	\$ 348.6	\$ 360.2	-3.2%	\$ (11.6)
Property and casualty catastrophe				
losses, included above (1)	\$ 31.9	\$ 64.0	-50.2%	\$ (32.1)

# Property and Casualty Claims and Claim Expenses ( losses )

		Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2009	2008		
Incurred claims and claim expenses:				
Claims occurring in the current year	\$ 317.5	\$ 331.6		
Decrease in estimated reserves for claims				
occurring in prior years (2)	(8.3)	(11.4)		
Total claims and claim expenses incurred	\$ 309.2	\$ 320.2		
Property and casualty loss ratio:				
Total	75.7%	79.6%		
Effect of catastrophe costs, included above (1)	7.8%	15.9%		

# N.M. Not meaningful.

(1) Property and casualty catastrophe losses were incurred as follows:

	2009	2008
Three months ended		
March 31	\$ 4.5	\$ 5.4
June 30	15.1	22.4
September 30	12.3	36.2
Total year-to-date	\$ 31.9	\$ 64.0

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

(2) Shows the amounts by which the Company decreased its reserves in each of the periods indicated for claims occurring in previous years to reflect subsequent information on such claims and changes in their projected final settlement costs.

(Favorable)/unfavorable development of prior years reserves was recorded as follows:

	2009	2008
Three months ended		
March 31	\$ (3.4)	\$ (2.7)
June 30	(2.1)	(2.4)
September 30	(2.8)	(6.3)
Total year-to-date	\$ (8.3)	\$ (11.4)

57

For the three months ended September 30, 2009, the Company s benefits, claims and settlement expenses of \$122.6 million decreased 6.6%, or \$8.6 million, compared to the same period in 2008. The change reflected a decrease in catastrophe losses partially offset by an increase in large property losses, primarily sinkhole claims in Florida; a \$4.2 million increase in property and casualty 2009 accident year reserves due to the re-estimation of claims for the first and second quarters of the year; an increase in life mortality costs and a smaller decrease in estimated reserves for property and casualty claims occurring in prior years. In addition, for the automobile line the adverse prior year variance was in large part due to the extremely favorable loss experience in the third quarter of 2008, which reflected the impact of higher gas prices on miles driven.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company s benefits, claims and settlement expenses decreased compared to the prior year, primarily reflecting a decrease in catastrophe losses partially offset by the third quarter factors described above and an increase in non-catastrophe weather-related losses. For the nine months, the current accident year automobile loss ratio was only slightly above the prior year.

For the first nine months of 2009, the favorable development of prior years property and casualty reserves of \$8.3 million was the result of actual and remaining projected losses for prior years being below the level anticipated in the December 31, 2008 loss reserve estimate, primarily the result of favorable frequency and severity trends in voluntary automobile loss and loss adjustment expense emergence for accident years 2006 and prior.

In the first nine months of 2008, favorable development of prior years property and casualty reserves of \$11.4 million was the result of actual and remaining projected losses for prior years being below the level anticipated in the December 31, 2007 loss reserve estimate, primarily driven by favorable voluntary automobile loss and loss adjustment expense emergence for accident years 2005 and prior.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the voluntary automobile loss ratio of 70.9% increased by 2.6 percentage points compared to the same period a year earlier, including a 1.1 percentage point increase due to the lower level of favorable development of prior years—reserves in the current period. The homeowners loss ratio of 86.0% for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 decreased 19.4 percentage points compared to a year earlier, including a 24.4 percentage point decrease due to the lower level of catastrophe costs. Catastrophe costs represented 22.9 percentage points of the homeowners loss ratio for the current period compared to 47.3 percentage points for the prior year. The homeowners loss ratio reflected a moderate increase in non-catastrophe weather-related losses in 2009, as well as an increase in large property losses, primarily sinkhole claims in Florida. In addition to the above factors, the loss ratios in 2009 included increases due to costs of consolidating the Company—s claims offices which management expects to be non-recurring in nature. For total property and casualty, the \$3.7 million of claims office consolidation costs represented 0.9 percentage point of the loss ratio for the nine months ended September 30, 2009.

For the annuity segment, benefits in the first nine months of 2009 decreased compared to the prior year. The Company's guaranteed minimum death benefits (GMDB) reserve was \$0.6 million at September 30, 2009, compared to \$1.3 million at December 31, 2008 and \$0.4 million at September 30, 2008. The changes in this reserve in both the current period and 2008 reflected the impact of volatile financial markets performance.

For the life segment, benefits in the current nine months increased \$0.5 million compared to a year earlier, primarily due to an increase in mortality costs in the current period.

Interest Credited to Policyholders

		Nine Months Ended September 30,		From Year
	2009	2008	Percent	Amount
Annuity	\$ 74.1	\$ 69.3	6.9%	\$ 4.8
Life	29.4	28.6	2.8%	0.8
Total	\$ 103.5	\$ 97.9	5.7%	\$ 5.6

For the three months ended September 30, 2009, interest credited of \$35.3 million increased 6.3%, or \$2.1 million, compared to the same period in 2008, consistent with the percentage increase reflected for the nine months.

Compared to the first nine months of 2008, the current period increase in annuity segment interest credited reflected a 7.2% increase in average accumulated fixed deposits and no change in the average annual interest rate credited of 4.26%. Life insurance interest credited increased as a result of the growth in interest-sensitive life insurance reserves.

The net interest spread on fixed annuity account value on deposit measures the difference between the rate of income earned on the underlying invested assets and the rate of interest which policyholders are credited on their account values. The net interest spreads for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 were 160 basis points and 156 basis points, respectively.

As of September 30, 2009, fixed annuity account values totaled \$2.4 billion, including \$2.2 billion of deferred annuities. Of the deferred annuity account values, 24% had minimum guaranteed interest rates of 3% or lower while 67% had minimum guaranteed rates of 4.5% or greater. For \$1.7 billion of the deferred annuity account values, the credited interest rate was equal to the minimum guaranteed rate. The annuity net interest spread increased 4 basis points compared to the first nine months of 2008, reflecting improvements in the Company s investment portfolio yields. In 2009, the Company s total investment portfolio yield has reflected the adverse impact of the elevated level of short-term investments in the portfolio related to the Company s opportunistic capital gains programs during the first nine months of the year. Management anticipates reinvesting the majority of these funds in intermediate or long term bonds by December 31, 2009.

## Amortization of Policy Acquisition Expenses

Amortized policy acquisition expenses were \$18.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to \$16.2 million for the same period in 2008. Amortized policy acquisition expenses were \$60.2 million for the first nine months of 2009 compared to \$56.0 million for the same period in 2008. For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the valuation of annuity deferred policy acquisition costs resulted in a decrease in amortization of \$0.8 million, primarily due to the impact of financial market performance more than offsetting the impact of investment gains related to this segment recognized during the period. The favorable impact of financial market performance was the primary factor in the current quarter. Nine month amortization decreased \$0.1 million from a similar valuation at September 30,

2008. For the life segment, the September 30, 2009 valuation of deferred policy acquisition costs resulted in a \$0.2 million increase in amortization compared to a \$0.1 million decrease recorded at September 30, 2008.

#### Operating Expenses

For the first nine months of 2009, operating expenses increased 7.0%, or \$6.9 million, compared to the prior year. Operating expenses in the prior year reflected significant reductions in incentive compensation accruals, largely recorded in the third quarter. The current period increase also was attributable to increased strategic investments in distribution initiatives in 2009. The property and casualty expense ratio of 25.2% for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 increased 1.5 percentage points compared to the prior year, reflecting the items impacting the total Company.

## Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets was \$0.2 million for the first nine months of 2009 compared to \$4.1 million for the same period in 2008. The amortization of the value of annuity business acquired in the 1989 acquisition of the Company was completed as of December 31, 2008. The remaining \$0.2 million of value of acquired insurance in force for the life segment was amortized in the first three months of 2009. Amortization of intangible assets was \$1.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2008.

# Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

The effective income tax rate on the Company's pretax income in the current year and loss in the prior year, including net realized investment gains and losses, was 29.6% and 10.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Income from investments in tax-advantaged securities reduced the effective income tax rate 7.1 percentage points for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and benefited the effective tax rate 40.0 percentage points for the nine months ended September 30, 2008. While the income from tax-advantaged securities decreased somewhat compared to a year earlier, the reduced level of taxable income in the prior year period resulted in this having a greater impact on the effective tax rate for 2008. For the nine months ended September 30, 2008, the income tax (benefit) rate reflected an increase of 14.7 percentage points due to the establishment of a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets related to realized and unrealized investment losses at September 30, 2008. In 2008, the change in the effective income tax rate, from a tax of 22.6% for the six months ended June 30 to the nine months tax benefit rate of 10.4%, favorably impacted the income tax benefit for the three months ended September 30, 2008.

The Company records liabilities for uncertain tax filing positions where it is more-likely-than-not that the position will not be sustainable upon audit by taxing authorities. These liabilities are reevaluated routinely and are adjusted appropriately based upon changes in facts or law. The Company has no unrecorded liabilities from uncertain tax filing positions.

At September 30, 2009, the Company had income tax returns for the 2006 through 2008 tax years still open and subject to adjustment upon examination by taxing authorities. The Company has recorded \$1.6 million of uncertain tax position liabilities including interest related to all open tax years.

60

Net Income (Loss)

For the three months ended September 30, 2009, the Company s net income of \$19.3 million increased \$50.1 million compared to the prior year s net loss. After-tax net realized investment gains and losses improved by \$44.9 million between periods. The Company s property and casualty combined ratio of 104.1% for the third quarter of 2009 was 5.6 percentage points less than the same period in 2008. Catastrophe costs decreased \$15.6 million after tax, representing 18.0 percentage points on the combined ratio. This included the absence of hurricanes; however, non-hurricane catastrophe costs were well above normal levels during the current period. The third quarter 2009 combined ratio reflected about 3 percentage points due to the re-estimation and strengthening of 2009 accident year reserves. The remainder of the unfavorable prior year combined ratio variance in part reflected an increase in large property losses, primarily sinkhole claims in Florida. In addition, for the automobile line the adverse prior year variance was in large part due to the extremely favorable loss experience in the third quarter of 2008, which reflected the impact of higher gas prices on miles driven. Year to date, the current accident year automobile loss ratio was only slightly above prior year and was consistent with management s expectations. Annuity segment net income increased \$1.0 million compared to the third quarter of 2008, as current period improvements in the interest margin and the positive three month impact of the financial market performance on the valuations of deferred policy acquisition costs and the guaranteed minimum death benefit reserve offset the decrease in variable annuity contract charges earned. Life segment net income was comparable to a year earlier.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company s net income of \$51.3 million represented an increase of \$63.3 million compared to the net loss recorded in the first nine months of 2008. After-tax net realized investment gains and losses improved by \$58.2 million between periods. The current period included transition costs of approximately \$3.4 million after tax related to the Company s property and casualty claims office consolidation and distribution strategies, nearly all of which were incurred in the first quarter. Catastrophe costs decreased \$20.9 million after tax. The increase in non-hurricane catastrophe costs experienced in the third quarter of 2009 was a continuation of the higher-than-average levels experienced in the first six months of the year. The current period increase in large property losses, primarily sinkhole claims in Florida, and automobile favorable loss experience in 2008 described above were also factors impacting comparisons of net income for the nine months. In addition, compared to the first nine months of 2008, net income in the current period decreased by \$2.0 million due to a modest decrease in the level of favorable prior years property and casualty reserve development. Including all factors, the property and casualty combined ratio was 100.9% for the first nine months of 2009 compared to 103.3% for the same period in 2008. Annuity segment net income increased \$0.4 million compared to the first nine months of 2008, as current year improvements in the interest margin and the favorable impact of the financial markets on the valuations of deferred policy acquisition costs and the guaranteed minimum death benefit reserve offset the adverse impact of the financial markets on the level of contract charges earned year to date. Life segment net income increased \$0.7 million compared to a year earlier, reflecting growth in investment income partially offset by an increase in mortality costs.

Net income (loss) by segment and net income (loss) per share were as follows:

	Nine Months Ended September 30,		Change Prior Y	Year
	2009	2008	Percent	Amount
Analysis of net income (loss) by segment:	<b>d.</b> 10.0	Φ 12.6	15.60	Φ 62
Property and casualty	\$ 19.8	\$ 13.6	45.6%	\$ 6.2
Annuity	14.8	14.4	2.8%	0.4
Life	12.9	12.2	5.7%	0.7
Corporate and other (1)	3.8	(52.2)	N.M.	56.0
Net income (loss)	\$ 51.3	\$ (12.0)	N.M.	\$ 63.3
Effect of catastrophe costs, after tax,				
included above	\$ (20.7)	\$ (41.6)	50.2%	\$ 20.9
Effect of realized investment gains (losses), after tax, included above	\$ 14.0	\$ (44.2)	N.M.	\$ 58.2
Diluted:				
Net income (loss) per share	\$ 1.27	\$ (0.30)	N.M.	\$ 1.57
Weighted average number of shares				
and equivalent shares (in millions)	40.6	40.1	1.2%	0.5
Property and casualty combined ratio:				
Total	100.9%	103.3%	N.M.	-2.4%
Effect of catastrophe costs,	200.70	200.070	11/2/21	2.176
included above	7.8%	15.9%	N.M.	-8.1%

## N.M. Not meaningful.

(1) The corporate and other segment includes interest expense on debt, realized investment gains and losses, certain public company expenses and other corporate level items. The Company does not allocate the impact of corporate level transactions to the insurance segments, consistent with the basis for management s evaluation of the results of those segments.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the changes in net income for the property and casualty, annuity and life segments are described above.

For the corporate and other segment, net income in the current period compared to the net loss in the first nine months of 2008 was due to net realized investment gains in 2009 compared to net realized losses in the prior year period.

# Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

Return on shareholders equity based on net income (loss) was 14% and 1% for the trailing 12 months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The accounting guidance adopted by the Company in 2009 is described in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 Basis of Presentation Adopted Accounting Standards. The adoptions did not have a material effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

62

## Outlook for 2009

At the time of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, management estimates that 2009 full year net income before realized investment gains and losses will be within a range of \$1.37 to \$1.47 per diluted share. This projection incorporates results for the first nine months of 2009 and anticipates a normal level of property and casualty weather losses and moderate appreciation in the financial markets in the fourth quarter of 2009. As described in Critical Accounting Policies, certain of the Company's significant accounting measurements require the use of estimates and assumptions. As additional information becomes available, adjustments may be required. Those adjustments are charged or credited to income for the period in which the adjustments are made and may impact actual results compared to management scurrent estimate. Additionally, see Forward-looking Information concerning other important factors that could impact actual results. A projection of net income including realized investment gains and losses is not accessible on a forward-looking basis because it is not possible to provide a reliable forecast of realized investment gains and losses, which can vary substantially from one period to another and may have a significant impact on net income.

# **Liquidity and Financial Resources**

## Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or for other contractually narrow or limited purposes. As such, the Company is not exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if the Company had engaged in such relationships.

#### Investments

Information regarding the Company s investment portfolio, which is comprised primarily of investment grade, fixed income securities, is located in Results of Operations Net Realized Investment Gains and Losses and in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Note 2 Investments.

#### Cash Flow

The short-term liquidity requirements of the Company, within a 12-month operating cycle, are for the timely payment of claims and benefits to policyholders, operating expenses, interest payments and federal income taxes. Cash flow generated from operations has been, and is expected to be, adequate to meet the Company s operating cash needs in the next 12 months. Cash flow in excess of operational needs has been used to fund business growth, retire short-term debt, pay dividends to shareholders and repurchase shares of the Company s common stock. Long-term liquidity requirements, beyond one year, are principally for the payment of future insurance policy claims and benefits and retirement of long-term debt.

63

## **Operating Activities**

As a holding company, HMEC conducts its principal operations in the personal lines segment of the property and casualty and life insurance industries through its subsidiaries. HMEC s insurance subsidiaries generate cash flow from premium and investment income, generally well in excess of their immediate needs for policy obligations, operating expenses and other cash requirements. Cash provided by operating activities primarily reflects net cash generated by the insurance subsidiaries. For the first nine months of 2009, net cash provided by operating activities increased slightly compared to the same period in 2008.

Payment of principal and interest on debt, dividends to shareholders and parent company operating expenses are dependent upon the ability of the insurance subsidiaries to pay cash dividends or make other cash payments to HMEC, including tax payments pursuant to tax sharing agreements. Payments for share repurchase programs also have this dependency. The insurance subsidiaries are subject to various regulatory restrictions which limit the amount of annual dividends or other distributions, including loans or cash advances, available to HMEC without prior approval of the insurance regulatory authorities. Dividends which may be paid by the insurance subsidiaries to HMEC during 2009 without prior approval are approximately \$55 million, of which \$12.0 million was paid during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and an additional \$6.0 million was declared in September 2009 and subsequently paid in October 2009. Although regulatory restrictions exist, dividend availability from subsidiaries has been, and is expected to be, adequate for HMEC s capital needs.

# **Investing Activities**

HMEC s insurance subsidiaries maintain significant investments in fixed maturity securities to meet future contractual obligations to policyholders. In conjunction with its management of liquidity and other asset/liability management objectives, the Company, from time to time, will sell fixed maturity securities prior to maturity and reinvest the proceeds in other investments with different interest rates, maturities or credit characteristics. Accordingly, the Company has classified the entire fixed maturity securities and equity securities portfolios as available for sale.

# Financing Activities

Financing activities include primarily payment of dividends, the receipt and withdrawal of funds by annuity contractholders, repurchases of the Company s common stock, fluctuations in bank overdraft balances, and borrowings, repayments and repurchases related to its debt facilities.

The Company s annuity business produced net positive cash flows in the first nine months of 2009. For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, receipts from annuity contracts increased \$30.3 million, or 12.7%, compared to the same period in the prior year. Annuity contract benefits and withdrawals decreased \$0.8 million, or 0.6%, compared to the prior year. Cash value retentions for variable and fixed annuity options were 93.4% and 94.1%, respectively, for the 12 month period ended September 30, 2009. Net transfers to variable annuity accumulated cash values increased \$4.5 million, or 8.7%, compared to the prior year.

## Capital Resources

The Company has determined the amount of capital which is needed to adequately fund and support business growth, primarily based on risk-based capital formulas including those developed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC). Historically, the Company s insurance subsidiaries have generated capital in excess of such needed capital. These excess amounts have been paid to HMEC through dividends. HMEC has then utilized these dividends and its access to the capital markets to service and retire long-term debt, pay dividends to its shareholders, fund growth initiatives, repurchase shares of its common stock and for other corporate purposes. Management anticipates that the Company s sources of capital will continue to generate sufficient capital to meet the needs for business growth, debt interest payments and shareholder dividends.

The total capital of the Company was \$966.2 million at September 30, 2009 including \$199.6 million of long-term debt and \$38.0 million of short-term debt outstanding. Total debt represented 25.9% of total capital excluding unrealized investment gains and losses (24.6% including unrealized investment gains and losses) at September 30, 2009, which was modestly above the Company s long-term target of 25% and within a range consistent with the Company s debt ratings assigned as of September 30, 2009.

Shareholders equity was \$728.6 million at September 30, 2009, reflecting a net unrealized gain in the Company s investment portfolio of \$50.5 million after taxes and the related impact on deferred policy acquisition costs associated with annuity and interest-sensitive life policies. The market value of the Company s common stock and the market value per share were \$547.4 million and \$13.97, respectively, at September 30, 2009. Book value per share was \$18.59 at September 30, 2009 (\$17.30 excluding investment fair value adjustments).

Additional information regarding the net unrealized gain in the Company s investment portfolio at September 30, 2009 is included in Results of Operations Net Realized Investment Gains and Losses .

As of September 30, 2009, the Company had outstanding \$75.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.05% Senior Notes (Senior Notes due 2015), which will mature on June 15, 2015, issued at a discount resulting in an effective yield of 6.1%. Interest on the Senior Notes due 2015 is payable semi-annually at a rate of 6.05%. Detailed information regarding the redemption terms of the Senior Notes due 2015 is contained in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Note 5 Debt of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

The Senior Notes due 2015 have an investment grade rating from S&P (BBB), Moody s (Baa3), and A.M. Best Company, Inc. (A.M. Best) (bbb-). See also Financial Ratings. The Senior Notes due 2015 are traded in the open market (HMN 6.05).

65

As of September 30, 2009, the Company had outstanding \$125.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.85% Senior Notes (Senior Notes due 2016), which will mature on April 15, 2016, issued at a discount resulting in an effective yield of 6.893%. Interest on the Senior Notes due 2016 is payable semi-annually at a rate of 6.85%. Detailed information regarding the redemption terms of the Senior Notes due 2016 is contained in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Note 5 Debt of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

The Senior Notes due 2016 have an investment grade rating from S&P (BBB), Moody s (Baa3), and A.M. Best (bbb-). See also Financial Ratings. The Senior Notes due 2016 are traded in the open market (HMN 6.85).

As of September 30, 2009, the Company had \$38.0 million outstanding under its Bank Credit Facility. The Bank Credit Facility provides for unsecured borrowings of up to \$125.0 million and expires on December 19, 2011. Interest accrues at varying spreads relative to corporate or Eurodollar base rates and is payable monthly or quarterly depending on the applicable base rate (London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 0.6%, or 0.9%, at September 30, 2009). The unused portion of the Bank Credit Facility is subject to a variable commitment fee, which was 0.125% on an annual basis at September 30, 2009.

To provide additional capital management flexibility, the Company filed a universal shelf registration on Form S-3 with the SEC in November 2008. The registration statement, which registers the offer and sale by the Company from time to time of up to \$300 million of various securities, which may include debt securities, common stock, preferred stock, depositary shares, warrants and/or delayed delivery contracts, was declared effective on January 7, 2009. Unless fully utilized or withdrawn by the Company earlier, this registration statement will remain effective through January 7, 2012. No securities associated with the registration statement have been issued as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Total shareholder dividends were \$6.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. In March, May and September 2009, the Board of Directors announced regular quarterly dividends of \$0.0525 per share.

Information regarding the reinsurance program for the Company s property and casualty segment is located in Business Property and Casualty Segment Property and Casualty Reinsurance of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008. All components of the Company s property and casualty reinsurance program remain consistent with the Form 10-K disclosure, with the exception of the Florida Hurricane and Catastrophe Fund (FHCF) coverage. As previously disclosed and reflecting information received from the FHCF subsequent to the March 2, 2009 SEC filing of the Company s recent Form 10-K that indicated that the Company s retention and maximum for the 2008-2009 contract period had been revised, through June 1, 2009, the Company s predominant insurance subsidiary for property and casualty business written in Florida reinsured 90% of hurricane losses in that state above an estimated retention of \$13.6 million up to \$81.2 million with the FHCF, based on the FHCF s financial resources. The FHCF contract is a one-year contract. Effective June 1, 2009, the new contract with the FHCF reinsures 90% of hurricane losses in Florida above an estimated retention of \$14.2 million up to \$51.7 million, based on the FHCF s financial resources. The decrease in FHCF coverage for the 2009-2010 contract period primarily reflects the Company s election not to purchase additional coverage as it did for the 2008-2009 contract period. This election was anticipated based on the Company s

increase in coverage under its primary reinsurance contracts, which were finalized and priced prior to January 1, 2009.

Information regarding the reinsurance program for the Company s life segment is located in Business Life Segment of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

# **Financial Ratings**

The Company s principal insurance subsidiaries are rated by S&P, Moody s and A.M. Best. These rating agencies have also assigned ratings to the Company s long-term debt securities.

Assigned ratings as of October 31, 2009 were unchanged from the disclosure in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008. All of these ratings and their associated outlooks were affirmed during the first six months of 2009. The ratings were as follows (the insurance financial strength ratings for the Company s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries and the Company s principal life insurance subsidiary are the same):

	Insurance Financial Strength Ratings (Outlook)			Debt Ratings (Outlook)	
As of October 31, 2009					
S&P (1)	A	(negative)	BBB	(negative)	
Moody s (1)	A3	(stable)	Baa3	(stable)	
A.M. Best	A-	(stable)	bbb-	(stable)	

(1) This agency has not yet rated Horace Mann Lloyds.

#### Market Value Risk

Market value risk, the Company s primary market risk exposure, is the risk that the Company s invested assets will decrease in value. This decrease in value may be due to (1) a change in the yields realized on the Company s assets and prevailing market yields for similar assets, (2) an unfavorable change in the liquidity of the investment, (3) an unfavorable change in the financial prospects of the issuer of the investment, or (4) a downgrade in the credit rating of the issuer of the investment. See also Results of Operations Net Realized Investment Gains and Losses .

Significant changes in interest rates expose the Company to the risk of experiencing losses or earning a reduced level of income based on the difference between the interest rates earned on the Company s investments and the credited interest rates on the Company s insurance liabilities. See also Results of Operations Interest Credited to Policyholders.

The Company seeks to manage its market value risk by coordinating the projected cash inflows of assets with the projected cash outflows of liabilities. For all its assets and liabilities, the Company seeks to maintain reasonable durations, consistent with the maximization of income without sacrificing investment quality, while providing for liquidity and diversification. The investment risk associated with variable annuity deposits and the underlying mutual funds is assumed by those contractholders, and not by the Company. Certain fees that the

67

Company earns from variable annuity deposits are based on the market value of the funds deposited.

More detailed descriptions of the Company s exposure to market value risks and the management of those risks is presented in Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Market Value Risk of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

#### **Recent Accounting Changes**

Investment in Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value Per Share

In September 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ( ASU ) No. 2009-12, Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share . ASU No. 2009-12 provides guidance on using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) to estimate the fair value of an alternative investment that does not have a readily determinable fair value. The guidance should be applied on an investment-by-investment basis and applied consistently to the entire position in the investment. The amendments of this ASU are effective for interim and annual periods ending after December 15, 2009, with early application permitted. Management believes the adoption of this ASU will not have a material effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

#### Fair Value Measurement of Liabilities

In August 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-05, Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value, which provides clarification that in circumstances where a quoted market price in an active market for an identical liability is not available, a reporting entity must measure fair value of the liability using one of the following techniques: (1) the quoted price of the identical liability when traded as an asset; (2) quoted prices for similar liabilities or similar liabilities when traded as assets; or (3) another valuation technique, such as a present value technique or the amount that the reporting entity would pay to transfer the identical liability or would receive to enter into the identical liability that is consistent with existing fair value measurement and disclosure provisions. The amendments of this ASU are effective for the first reporting period beginning after issuance; for the Company the effective date was October 1, 2009. Management believes the adoption of this ASU will have no effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

#### Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefit Plan Disclosures

In December 2008, the FASB amended its guidance related to postretirement benefit plan assets included in FASB ASC paragraph 715-20-65-2. For fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009, the guidance requires employers to disclose additional information about investment allocation decisions, major categories of plan assets and fair value techniques and inputs used to measure plan assets. Because the requirements of this guidance relate only to financial statement disclosures, its adoption will have no effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

68

#### **Other Matters**

Ariel Capital Management, LLC, HMEC s fourth largest shareholder with 5.0% of the common shares outstanding per their SEC filing on Schedule 13G as of June 30, 2009, is the investment adviser for two of the mutual funds under the Company s variable annuity contracts.

# Item 3: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The information required by Item 305 of Regulation S-K is contained in Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Market Value Risk contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

#### **Item 4: Controls and Procedures**

# Management s Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's management, including the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended (the Exchange Act ), as of September 30, 2009 pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information relating to the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) that is required to be included in the Company's periodic Securities and Exchange Commission filings. No significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were identified in the evaluation and therefore, no corrective actions were taken. There were no significant changes in the Company's internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation.

# **Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting**

There were no changes in the Company s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company s last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company s internal control over financial reporting.

# PART II: OTHER INFORMATION

#### **Item 1A: Risk Factors**

At the time of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, management believes there are no material changes from the risk factors as previously disclosed in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

# Item 4: Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.

#### **Item 5: Other Information**

The Company is not aware of any information required to be disclosed in a report on Form 8-K during the three months ended September 30, 2009 which has not been filed with the SEC.

#### Item 6: Exhibits

The following items are filed as Exhibits. Management contracts and compensatory plans are indicated by an asterisk (\*).

#### **Exhibit**

# No. <u>Description</u>

- (3) Articles of incorporation and bylaws:
  - 3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of HMEC, filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on June 24, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) on August 14, 2003.
  - Form of Certificate for shares of Common Stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of HMEC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to HMEC s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 33-53118) filed with the SEC on October 9, 1992.
  - 3.3 Bylaws of HMEC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2003.
- (4) Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures:
  - 4.1 Indenture, dated as of June 9, 2005, between HMEC and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (formerly JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. was trustee), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to HMEC s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 6, 2005, filed with the SEC on June 9, 2005.
  - 4.1(a) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 9, 2005, between HMEC and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (formerly JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. was trustee), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to HMEC s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 6, 2005, filed with the SEC on June 9, 2005.
  - 4.1(b) Form of HMEC 6.05% Senior Notes Due 2015 (included in Exhibit 4.1(a)).

70

#### **Exhibit**

# No. <u>Description</u>

- 4.1(c) Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 21, 2006, between HMEC and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (formerly JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. was trustee), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to HMEC s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 18, 2006, filed with the SEC on April 21, 2006.
- 4.1(d) Form of HMEC 6.85% Senior Notes due April 15, 2016 (included in Exhibit 4.1(c)).
- 4.2 Certificate of Designations for HMEC Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed with the SEC on March 16, 2006.

#### (10) Material contracts:

- Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 19, 2006 among HMEC, certain financial institutions named therein and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, filed with the SEC on March 1, 2007.
- 10.2\* Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation Deferred Equity Compensation Plan for Directors, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.3\* Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Employees, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.4\* Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation 1991 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2000.
- 10.4(a)\* Amendment to Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation 1991 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000, filed with the SEC on August 11, 2000.
- 10.4(b)\* Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators Corporation 1991 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5(a) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2000.

71

# **Exhibit**

No.		<u>Description</u>
1	10.4(c)*	Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators Corporation 1991 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5(b) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2000.
1	0.5*	Horace Mann Educators Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed with the SEC on March 29, 2002.
1	10.5(a)*	Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(a) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed with the SEC on March 29, 2002.
1	10.5(b)*	Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(b) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed with the SEC on March 29, 2002.
1	0.6*	Horace Mann Educators Corporation Amended and Restated 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan (2002 Incentive Compensation Plan), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005, filed with the SEC on August 9, 2005.
1	0.6(a)*	Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(a) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.
1	10.6(b)*	Revised Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(b) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
1	0.6(c)*	Specimen Regular Employee Stock Option Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(b) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.
1	0.6(d)*	Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan,

72

quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(c) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

**Description** 

#### **Exhibit**

No.

# 10.6(e)\* Specimen Employee Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation

- Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(d) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed with the SEC on March 16, 2006.
- 10.6(f)\* Revised Specimen Employee Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(f) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.6(g)\* Specimen Non-employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(e) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed with the SEC on March 16, 2006.
- 10.6(h)\* Revised Specimen Non-employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(h) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.6(i)\* Specimen Restricted Stock Unit Deferral Election Form under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(f) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed with the SEC on March 16, 2006.
- 10.6(j)\* Revised Specimen Restricted Stock Unit Deferral Election Forms under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(j) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.6(k)\* Specimen Modification to Stock Options outstanding as of June 30, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(d) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004, filed with the SEC on August 9, 2004.
- 10.7\* Horace Mann Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan, 2002 Restatement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed with the SEC on May 15, 2002.
- 10.8\* Horace Mann Executive Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan, 2002 Restatement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed with the SEC on May 15, 2002.

73

#### **Exhibit**

# No. Description 10.9\* Amended and Restated Horace Mann Nonqualified Supplemental Money Purchase Pension

Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.

- 10.10\* Summary of HMEC Non-Employee Director Compensation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to HMEC s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 28, 2009, filed with the SEC on June 2, 2009.
- 10.11\* Summary of HMEC Named Executive Officer Annualized Salaries, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, filed with the SEC on May 8, 2009.
- 10.12\* Form of Severance Agreement between HMEC, Horace Mann Service Corporation (HMSC) and certain officers of HMEC and/or HMSC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.12(a)\* Revised Schedule to Severance Agreements between HMEC, HMSC and certain officers of HMEC and/or HMSC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12(a) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.13\* Form of Change in Control Agreement between HMEC, HMSC and certain officers of HMEC and/or HMSC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.13(a)\* Revised Schedule to Change in Control Agreement between HMEC, HMSC and certain officers of HMEC and/or HMSC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13(a) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, filed with the SEC on May 8, 2009.
- 10.14\* Employment Agreement between HMEC and Louis G. Lower II as of December 31, 1999, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2000.
- 10.14(a)\* Amendment to Employment Agreement between HMEC and Louis G. Lower II as of January 1, 2008, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14(a) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.

74

## **Exhibit**

# No. <u>Description</u>

- 10.14(b)\* Second Amendment to Employment Agreement between HMEC and Louis G. Lower II as of September 30, 2009.
- 10.15\* Employment Agreement between HMSC and Stephen P. Cardinal as of November 20, 2008, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.16\* Letter of Employment between HMSC and Brent H. Hamann effective February 9, 2009, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, filed with the SEC on May 8, 2009.
- (11) Statement regarding computation of per share earnings.
- (15) KPMG LLP letter regarding unaudited interim financial information.
- (31) Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  - 31.1 Certification by Louis G. Lower II, Chief Executive Officer of HMEC.
  - 31.2 Certification by Peter H. Heckman, Chief Financial Officer of HMEC.
- (32) Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  - 32.1 Certification by Louis G. Lower II, Chief Executive Officer of HMEC.
  - 32.2 Certification by Peter H. Heckman, Chief Financial Officer of HMEC.
- (99) Additional exhibits
  - 99.1 Glossary of Selected Terms.

75

# **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

	HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION (Registrant)
Date November 6, 2009	/s/Louis G. Lower II
	Louis G. Lower II President and Chief Executive Officer
Date November 6, 2009	/s/Peter H. Heckman
	Peter H. Heckman Executive Vice President
	and Chief Financial Officer
Date November 6, 2009	/s/Bret A. Conklin
	Bret A. Conklin Senior Vice President
	and Controller

76

# HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

# **EXHIBITS**

To

# FORM 10-Q

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2009

# VOLUME 1 OF 1

Edgar Filing: HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORP /DE/ - Form 10-Q

The following items are filed as Exhibits to Horace Mann Educators Corporation s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2009. Management contracts and compensatory plans are indicated by an asterisk (\*).

#### **EXHIBIT INDEX**

## **Exhibit**

## No. <u>Description</u>

- (3) Articles of incorporation and bylaws:
  - 3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of HMEC, filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on June 24, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC ) on August 14, 2003.
  - Form of Certificate for shares of Common Stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of HMEC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to HMEC s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 33-53118) filed with the SEC on October 9, 1992.
  - 3.3 Bylaws of HMEC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2003.
- (4) Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures:
  - 4.1 Indenture, dated as of June 9, 2005, between HMEC and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (formerly JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. was trustee), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to HMEC s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 6, 2005, filed with the SEC on June 9, 2005.
  - 4.1(a) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 9, 2005, between HMEC and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (formerly JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. was trustee), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to HMEC s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 6, 2005, filed with the SEC on June 9, 2005.
  - 4.1(b) Form of HMEC 6.05% Senior Notes Due 2015 (included in Exhibit 4.1(a)).

1

#### **Exhibit**

# No. <u>Description</u>

- 4.1(c) Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 21, 2006, between HMEC and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (formerly JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. was trustee), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to HMEC s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 18, 2006, filed with the SEC on April 21, 2006.
- 4.1(d) Form of HMEC 6.85% Senior Notes due April 15, 2016 (included in Exhibit 4.1(c)).
- 4.2 Certificate of Designations for HMEC Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed with the SEC on March 16, 2006.

#### (10) Material contracts:

- Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 19, 2006 among HMEC, certain financial institutions named therein and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, filed with the SEC on March 1, 2007.
- 10.2\* Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation Deferred Equity Compensation Plan for Directors, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.3\* Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Employees, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.4\* Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation 1991 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2000.
- 10.4(a)\* Amendment to Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation 1991 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000, filed with the SEC on August 11, 2000.

2

#### **Exhibit**

# No. <u>Description</u>

- 10.4(b)\* Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators Corporation 1991 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5(a) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2000.
- 10.4(c)\* Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators Corporation 1991 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5(b) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2000.
- 10.5\* Horace Mann Educators Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed with the SEC on March 29, 2002.
- 10.5(a)\* Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(a) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed with the SEC on March 29, 2002.
- 10.5(b)\* Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(b) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed with the SEC on March 29, 2002.
- 10.6\* Horace Mann Educators Corporation Amended and Restated 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan (2002 Incentive Compensation Plan), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005, filed with the SEC on August 9, 2005.
- 10.6(a)\* Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(a) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.

3

#### **Exhibit**

# No. <u>Description</u>

- 10.6(b)\* Revised Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(b) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.6(c)\* Specimen Regular Employee Stock Option Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(b) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.
- 10.6(d)\* Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(c) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.
- 10.6(e)\* Specimen Employee Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(d) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed with the SEC on March 16, 2006.
- 10.6(f)\* Revised Specimen Employee Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(f) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.6(g)\* Specimen Non-employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(e) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed with the SEC on March16, 2006.
- 10.6(h)\* Revised Specimen Non-employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(h) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.6(i)\* Specimen Restricted Stock Unit Deferral Election Form under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(f) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed with the SEC on March 16, 2006.

4

#### **Exhibit**

# No. <u>Description</u>

- 10.6(j)\* Revised Specimen Restricted Stock Unit Deferral Election Forms under the 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(j) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.6(k)\* Specimen Modification to Stock Options outstanding as of June 30, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(d) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004, filed with the SEC on August 9, 2004.
- 10.7\* Horace Mann Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan, 2002 Restatement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed with the SEC on May 15, 2002.
- 10.8\* Horace Mann Executive Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan, 2002 Restatement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed with the SEC on May 15, 2002.
- 10.9\* Amended and Restated Horace Mann Nonqualified Supplemental Money Purchase Pension Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
- 10.10\* Summary of HMEC Non-Employee Director Compensation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to HMEC s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 28, 2009, filed with the SEC on June 2, 2009.
- 10.11\* Summary of HMEC Named Executive Officer Annualized Salaries, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, filed with the SEC on May 8, 2009.
- 10.12\* Form of Severance Agreement between HMEC, Horace Mann Service Corporation (HMSC) and certain officers of HMEC and/or HMSC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.

5

# **Exhibit**

No.	_	Description
	10.12(a)*	Revised Schedule to Severance Agreements between HMEC, HMSC and certain officers of HMEC and/or HMSC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12(a) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
	10.13*	Form of Change in Control Agreement between HMEC, HMSC and certain officers of HMEC and/or HMSC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
	10.13(a)*	Revised Schedule to Change in Control Agreement between HMEC, HMSC and certain officers of HMEC and/or HMSC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13(a) to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, filed with the SEC on May 8, 2009.
	10.14*	Employment Agreement between HMEC and Louis G. Lower II as of December 31, 1999, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2000.
	10.14(a)*	Amendment to Employment Agreement between HMEC and Louis G. Lower II as of January 1, 2008, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14(a) to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
	10.14(b)*	Second Amendment to Employment Agreement between HMEC and Louis G. Lower II as of September 30, 2009.
	10.15*	Employment Agreement between HMSC and Stephen P. Cardinal as of November 20, 2008, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to HMEC s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.
	10.16*	Letter of Employment between HMSC and Brent H. Hamann effective February 9, 2009, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to HMEC s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, filed with the SEC on May 8, 2009.

6

# **Exhibit**

# No. <u>Description</u>

- (11) Statement regarding computation of per share earnings.
- (15) KPMG LLP letter regarding unaudited interim financial information.
- (31) Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  - 31.1 Certification by Louis G. Lower II, Chief Executive Officer of HMEC.
  - 31.2 Certification by Peter H. Heckman, Chief Financial Officer of HMEC.
- (32) Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  - 32.1 Certification by Louis G. Lower II, Chief Executive Officer of HMEC.
  - 32.2 Certification by Peter H. Heckman, Chief Financial Officer of HMEC.
- (99) Additional exhibits
  - 99.1 Glossary of Selected Terms.

7